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US IGA CRS AEOI

AEOI
US IGA CRS
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CRS
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AEOI
AEOI US 1GA
GIIN IRS IRS
CRS
CRS
IRS
US IGA US IGA AEOI
FATCA
FATCA FATCA
FATCA FATCA
FATCA US IGA
us
I1GA US IGA AEOI
FATCA

AEOI
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50

30
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30
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871 2017
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871
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2023 10

52,749,799.23

99.11

475,804.40

0.89

53,225,603.63
7,958

100.00

2109

2023 10

CGMFL 10-year AUD
Notes With vanilla
call option with

" |underlying Janus
Global Adaptive AUD
VT5

0.69

2031
9 29

9,631,774.67

9,852,470

6,112,472.39

7.32

2109NZ

2023 10

NZ NZ

NZ

CGMFL 10-year NzD
Notes With vanilla
call option with

" |underlying Janus
Global Adaptive NzD
VT5

0.69

2031
9 29

5,111,362.05

5,228,480

3,176,824.45

3.48

2109

2023 10

CGMFL 10-year USD
Notes With vanilla
call option with

" |underlying Janus
Global Adaptive USD
V15

0.69

2031
9 29

47,353,653.57 | 48,438,680

31,456,078.79

59.10
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2204 2023 10

CGMFL 5-year USD
Notes With vanilla
call option with 2027
. ] 0.69 2,339,002.49 | 2,368,850 1,946,957.82 | 2.33
underlying Janus 4 26
Global Adaptive USD

VT4.5

2204NZ 2023 10

NZ NZ NZ

CGMFL 5-year NzD
Notes With vanilla
call option with 2027
. . 0.69 431,404.93 436,910 350,095.98 0.38
underlying Janus 4 26
Global Adaptive NZD

VT4.5

2204 2023 10

CGMFL 5-year USD
Notes With vanilla
call option with 2027
. il 0.69 16,967,985.17 | 17,184,510 | 14,099,890.46 | 26.49
underlying Janus 4 26
Global Adaptive USD

VT4.5

2023 10

2023 10
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2023 10
2109
2022 6,256,919.51 595,596 6.11 582
2023 6,570,213.09 625,419 6.60 628
2022 11 6,371,148.45 606,470 6.28 598
12 5,946,346.43 566,033 5.92 564
2023 6,440,746.27 613,095 6.41 610
6,230,811.41 593,111 6.20 590
6,575,368.73 625,909 6.54 623
6,704,993.86 638,248 6.67 635
6,592,202.50 627,512 6.56 624
6,570,213.09 625,419 6.60 628
6,596,183.61 627,891 6.63 631
6,592,802.82 627,569 6.62 630
6,523,756.84 620,996 6.55 623
10 6,207,001.02 590,844 6.30 600
2109 2109NZ 2109 2021

30 2204 2204Nz 2204 2022
27
12
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2109NZ
NZ NZ

2022 3,235,848.66 282,198 6.09 531
2023 3,449,149.16 300,800 6.52 569
2022 11 3,261,794.57 284,461 6.15 536
12 3,043,582.34 265,431 5.74 501

2023 3,332,423.46 290,621 6.28 548
3,198,132.44 278,909 6.03 526

3,346,429.59 291,842 6.32 551

3,417,347.81 298,027 6.46 563

3,350,057.98 292,159 6.33 552

3,449,149.16 300,800 6.52 569

3,436,771.44 299,721 6.53 569

3,382,752.66 295,010 6.43 561

3,337,389.86 291,054 6.34 553

10 3,231,239.40 281,796 6.18 539
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2109

2022 35,007,751.36 5,234,009 6.86 1,026
2023 34,465,383.19 5,152,919 7.04 1,053
2022 11 34,107,805.59 5,099,458 6.78 1,014
12 32,872,829.23 4,914,817 6.54 978

2023 34,765,869.48 5,197,845 6.92 1,035
33,347,898.97 4,985,844 6.64 993

34,686,174.87 5,185,930 6.94 1,038

35,103,686.91 5,248,352 7.08 1,059

34,220,746.47 5,116,344 6.90 1,032

34,465,383.19 5,152,919 7.04 1,053

34,415,281.20 5,145,429 7.05 1,054

33,993,085.32 5,082,306 6.98 1,044

32,802,284.83 4,904,270 6.75 1,009

10 31,802,649.02 4,754,814 6.57 982
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2204

2022 3,124,014.67 297,375 9.11 867
2023 2,020,982.43 192,377 8.53 812
2022 11 2,906,349.59 276,655 8.56 815
12 2,444,271.21 232,670 8.44 803

2023 2,508,504.51 238,785 8.66 824
2,437,148.08 231,992 8.42 801

2,482,207.37 236,281 8.57 816

2,517,763.15 239,666 8.69 827

2,477,283.08 235,813 8.56 815

2,020,982.43 192,377 8.53 812

2,036,205.76 193,826 8.60 819

2,024,288.25 192,692 8.55 814

1,998,380.41 190,226 8.44 803

10 1,957,532.99 186,338 8.26 786
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2204NZ
NZ NZ
2022 405,348.09 35,350 9.28 809
2023 357,815.41 31,205 8.19 714
2022 11 369,028.93 32,183 8.45 737
12 355,242.81 30,981 8.13 709
2023 363,454.52 31,697 8.32 726
353,671.33 30,844 8.09 706
356,413.62 31,083 8.16 712
360,368.72 31,428 8.25 719
353,849.02 30,859 8.10 706
357,815.41 31,205 8.19 714
359,039.99 31,312 8.22 717
356,060.33 31,052 8.15 711
353,847.54 30,859 8.10 706
10 351,221.13 30,630 8.04 701
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2204
16,725,101.25 2,500,570 9.37 1,401
2022
14,841,918.99 2,219,015 8.54 1,277
2023
2022 11 15,108,874.49 2,258,928 8.53 1,275
12 14,988,330.23 2,240,905 8.46 1,265
2023 15,174,114.16 2,268,682 8.59 1,284
14,752,698.60 2,205,676 8.35 1,248
14,975,029.05 2,238,917 8.49 1,269
15,239,387.74 2,278,441 8.65 1,293
14,855,476.82 2,221,042 8.51 1,272
14,841,918.99 2,219,015 8.54 1,277
14,846,143.07 2,219,647 8.55 1,278
14,570,240.19 2,178,397 8.46 1,265
14,270,819.87 2,133,630 8.30 1,241
10 14,129,739.59 2,112,537 8.22 1,229
2109
38.90
8.02
2109NZ
39.10
7.06
2109
31.40
2.62
2204

8.90
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6.37

2204NZ

7.20

11.75

2204

6.30

8.86

100x%

2109 2204 10.00
2109NZ 2204NZ 10.00NZ 2109 2204
10.00
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2109
1,074,327.392 49,931.926 1,024,395.466
(1,074,327.392) (49,931.926) (1,024,395.466)
0.000 28,948.565 995,446.901
(0.000) (28,948.565) (995,446.901)
2100NZ
532,808.616 1,255.904 531,552.712
(532,808.616) (1,255.904) (531,552.712)
0.000 2,405.259 529,147.453
0.000 2,405.259 529,147.453
2109
5,201,555.964 99,825.726 5,101,730.238
(5,201,555.964) (99,825.726) (5,101,730.238)
0.000 203,374.209 4,898,356.029
0.000 203,374.209 4,898,356.029
2204
342,766.881 0.000 342,766.881
(342,766.881) (0.000) (342,766.881)
0.000 105,882.396 236,884.485
0.000 105,882.396 236,884.485
2204NZ
43,690.451 0.000 43,690.451
(43,690.451) (0.000) (43,690.451)
0.000 0.000 43,690.451
0.000 0.000 43,690.451
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2204
1,787,811.502 1,950.000 1,785,861.502

(1,787,811.502) (1,950.000) (1,785,861.502)

0.000 48,733.709 1,737,127.793

0.000 48,733.709 1,737,127.793
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OFAC

OFAC EU

OFAC EU

10

110/302



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

1,000

111/302



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

10
10
2109 2109NZ 2109
2204 2204NZ 2204

2204 2204NZ 2204

112/302



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

1,000

113/302



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

0.005

114/302



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

115/302



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2157 10 21

30
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131

23 103

2023 10 31
149.51 95.19 87.21
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2023 30
2023 2022
3,10 1,436,116 214,714 1,468,692 219,584
5,10 56,737,191 8,482,777 59,333,120 8,870,895
4 98,900 14,787
58,173,307 8,697,491 60,900,712 9,105,265
10 193,757 28,969 242,486 36,254
182,634 27,306
376,391 56,274 242,486 36,254
9 57,796,916 8,641,217 60,658,226 9,069,011
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2023 30
2023 30 2022 30
2109 9(a) 995,447 1,024,395
2109NZ 9(a) 529,147 531,553
2109 9(a) 4,898,356 5,101,730
2204 9(a) 236,884 342,767
2204NZ 9(a) 43,690 43,690
2204 9(a) 1,737,128 1,785,862
2109 9(a) 6.66 634 6.13 584
2109NZ 9(a) 6.57 573 6.11 533
2109 9(a) 7.10 1,062 6.89 1,030
2204 9(a) 8.60 819 9.15 871
2204NZ 9(a) 8.26 720 9.31 812
2204 9(a) 8.62 1,289 9.40 1,405
2023 12 15
[ 1
[ 1
[ 1
13 39
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13

39

2023 30
2023 30 2021 30
2022 30

6 32 5 54 8
7 398,526 59,584 (21,462,875) (3,208,914)

(6,075) (908) 44,103 6,594
392,483 58,680 (21,418,718) (3,202,313)
10 (64,526) (9,647) (40,375) (6,036)
10 (70,310) (10,512) (35,375) (5,289)
10 (426,510) (63,768) (267,102) (39,934)
10 (7.,786) (1,164) (5,042) (754)
10 (15,500) (2,317) (15,500) (2,317)
10 (39,053) (5,839) (39,053) (5,839)
10 (8,400) (1,256) (8,400) (1,256)
10 (34,124) (5,102) (34,124) (5,102)
(254,566) (38,060)
10 (40) (6) (48) 0
(17,859) (2,670) (17,726) (2,650)
(684,108) (102,281) (717,311) (107, 245)
(291,625) (43,601) (22,136,029) (3,309,558)
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2023 30
2023 30 2021 30
2022 30
60,658,226 9,069,011
2109 9(a) 7,724,414 1,154,877
2109NZ 9(a) 3,660,395 547,266
2109 9(a) 52,015,560 7,776,846
2204 9(a) 2,435,873 364,187
2204NZ 9(a) 285,277 42,652
2204 9(a) 17,878,115 2,672,957
83,999,634 12,558,785
2109 9(a) (125,527) (18,768) (265,207) (39,651)
2109NZ 9(a) (8,496) (1,270) (6,240) (933)
2109 9(a) (1,402,300) (209,658) (915,699) (136,906)
2204 9(a) (604,931) (90, 443)
2204 9(a) (428,431) (64,055) (18,233) (2,726)
(2,569, 685) (384,194) (1,205,379) (180,216)
(2,569, 685) (384,194) 82,794,255 12,378,569
(291,625) (43,601) (22,136,029) (3.309,558)
57,796,916 8,641,217 60,658,226 9,069,011

39
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13

2023 30
2023 30 2021 30
2022 30
(291,625) (43,601) (22,136,029) (3,309,558)
(32) ) G4) ®
(291,657) (43,606) (22,136,083) (3,309,566)
2,595,929 388,117 (59,333,120) (8,870,895)
98,900 14,787 (98,900) (14,787)
(48,729) (7,285) 242,486 36,254
32 5 54 8
2,354,475 352,018 (81,325,563) (12,158,985)
83,999,634 12,558,785
(2,387,051) (356,888) (1,205,379) (180,216)
(2,387,051) (356,888) 82,794,255 12,378,569
(32,576) (4,870) 1,468,692 219,584
1,468,692 219,584
1,436,116 214,714 1,468,692 219,584

39

126/302



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2008 10 21 2015 10

2008 10 27
2021
2021 30

2023 30

2021 30
2022 30
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50
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2109 2109NZ 2109
2204 2204NZ 2204

2023 2022

1,436,116 1,468,692
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2023 2022
98,900
2023 2022

56,737,191 59,333,120

2021 30

2023 30 2022 30
32 54

2021 30

2023 30 2022 30
398,526 (21,462,875)
3,003,242 1,475,394
(2,694,716) (22,938, 269)
398,526 (21,462,875)
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2023 30

VT4.5 NZ VT4.5
VT4.5 VTS
NZ VTS
VT5
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2021 30
2023 30 2022 30
1,436,116 1,468,692
56,737,191 59,333,120
58,173,307 60,801,812
2023 30 2022 30
2023 30
16,336,523 40,400,668 56,737,191

16,336,523 40,400,668 56,737,191
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2021 30
2022 30

18,834,824 40,498,296 59,333,120

18,834,824 40,498,296 59,333,120
50

2022 50
2,030,305 2022 2,204,331
2022 30

128,142 6,407

4,174 209

102,872 5,144

235,188 11,760
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2022 30
31,399 1,570
9,487 474
80,065 4,003
120,951 6,047
2023 30
VT4.5 NZ VT4.5
VT4.5 VT5
NZ VT5 VT5
876,099
2022 642,679
2023 30 2022 30
S&P A+ 2022 A
S&P A+ 2022

A+

S.C.A. S&P A+ 2022 A+
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2023 30 2022 30
2023 30
193,757 144,671 49,086
182,634 182,634
57,796,916 57,796,916
58,173,307 58,124,221 49,086
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2022 30
242,486 187,933 54,553
60,658,226 60,658,226
60,900,712 60,846,159 54,553
2023 30
2109 9,954,470 2031 29 4,287,886
VTS
2109NZ 5,291,480 2031 29 2,059,426
NZ VT5
2109 48,983,540 2031 29 34,053,356
VTS
2204 2,368,850 2027 26 1,335,481
VT4.5
2204NZ 436,910 2027 26 216,337
NZ VT4.5
2204 17,371,290 2027 26 14,784,705
VT4.5
56,737,191
2022 30
2109 10,243,960 2031 29 4,202,206
VT5
2109NZ 5,315,530 2031 29 1,961,461
NZ VTS
2109 51,017,280 2031 29 34,334,629
VTS
2204 3,427,670 2027 26 2,125,495
VT4.5
2204NZ 436,910 2027 26 249,387
NZ VT4.5
2204 17,858,620 2027 26 16,459,942
VT4.5
59,333,120
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2023
56,737,191 56,737,191
56,737,191 56,737,191
2022
59,333,120 59,333,120
59,333,120 59,333,120

2023 2022 30
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2023
2109 2109M7 2109
1,024,395 531,553 5,101,730
(28,948) (2,406) (203,374)
30 995,447 529,147 4,898,356
2204 2204NZ 2204
342,767 43,690 1,785,862
(105,883) - (48,734)
30 236,884 43,690 1,737,128
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2022
2109 2109NZ 2109
1,074,327 532,809 5,201,556
(49,932) (1,256) (99,826)
1,024,395 531,553 5,101,730
2204 2204NZ 2204
342,767 43,690 1,787,812
- - (1,950)
342,767 43,690 1,785,862
30
10 2109NZ
2109 10 2204
10 2204NZ 10
2204 10
2109 2109NZ 2109 2204
2204NZ 2204
2023 30
57,796,916 2022 60,658,226
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2023 30
2109 2109NZ 2109 2204
4,356,708 2,095,531 34,465,383 1,340,113
33,032 15,887 261,305 10,161
3,444 1,657 27,247 1,059
4,393,184 2,113,075 34,753,935 1,351,333
2204Nz 2204
217,391 14,841,919 57,317,045
1,648 112,527 434,560
172 11,732 45,311
219,211 14,966,178 57,796,916
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10

2021 30
2022 30
2109 2109NZ 2109 2204
4,302,884 2,012,212 35,007,751 2,148,385
11,627 5,437 94,590 5,805
3,287 1,537 26,737 1,641
22 1 191 1
4,317,820 2,019,197 35,129,269 2,155,842
2204NZ 2204
252,066 16,725,101 60,448,399
681 45,191 163,331
193 12,774 46,169
1 91 327
252,941 16,783,157 60,658,226
2023 30 2022 30
0.08
0.06
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0.01
15,000
0.01
5,000 AML
4,000
2023 30 2021 30
2022 6 30
64,526 5,375 40,375 7,467
70,310 13,938 35,375 34,045
15,500 2,993 15,500 15,500
7,786 669 5,042 943
5,000 8,875 5,000 5,000
8,400 8,800 8,400 8,400
2023 30
32 2022 54

40 2022 48
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0.53
2023
30 426,510 2022 267,102
35,419 2022 35,348
11
12 2023 30
2023 30
2023
2023
2023
13
2023 23 2023 23

2023 11 20 2023 11 20
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2023 30 2021 30
2022 30

57,317,045 8,569,471,398 60,448,399 9,037,640,134
2109 6.60 628 6.11 582
2109NZ 6.52NZ 569 6.09NZ 531
2109 7.04 1,053 6.86 1,026
2204 8.53 812 9.11 867
2204NZ 8.19NZ 714 9.28NZ 809
2204 8.54 1,277 9.37 1,401
2109 6.77 644 10.00 952
2109NZ 6.76NZ 590 10.00NZ 872
2109 7.31 1,093 10.00 1,495
2204 9.44 899 10.00 952
2204NZ 9.52Nz 830 10.00NZ 872
2204 9.53 1,425 10.00 1,495
2109 5.44 518 5.97 568
2109NZ 5.35NZ 467 5.95NZ 519
2109 6.07 908 6.78 1,014
2204 8.35 795 9.04 861
2204NZ 7.98NZ 696 9.23NZ 805
2204 8.26 1,235 9.31 1,392
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2023 30 2021 30
2022 30
2109 8.02 38.90
2109NZ 7.06 39.10
2109 2.62 31.40
2204 6.37 8.90
2204NZ 11.75 7.20
2204 8.86 6.30

151/302



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

¢ HC)

152/302



EDINETOO OO
00000000000000000000000000000000000(E22200)
00O00000000000000onog

Citigroun Nole - Targel Selfing st Malurity Fund

- & swres trusd of Rad Arc Global Investments (Cayman) Trusd
Financlal stafermants for the year ended 30 June 2023

Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2023
(Expressed in United Stales dollars unless otherwise stated)

Note 2023 2022
UsD uso
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 3,10 1,436,118 1,468,692
Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss 5,10 56,737,191 59,333,120
Amounts due from brokers 4 - 98,500
Total assets 58,173,307 60,200,712
Liabilities
Accruals and other payablas 10 193,757 242,488
Redemption payable 182,634 -
Total liabilities {excluding net assets
attributable to unitholders) 376,381 242 486

Met assets attributable to unitholders 9 5?,?96,91@ 60,658,228
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Cifigroup Note - Targal Selting ad Maturity Fund
= o geneg ugl of Red Arc Giobs! Investmenis (Cayman) Trus?
Financal selerments for the pear ended 30 June 2023

Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2023

(continued)
(Expressed in United Stales dollars unless ofherwise slated)

Maote 30 June 2023 30 June 2022

Total number of units in issue

2108 AUD Units 9(a) 985,447 1,024,385
2108 NZD Units 9la) 529,147 531,553
2108 USD Units 9la) 4,898,356 5,101,730
2204 AUD Units g(a) 236,884 342 787
2204 NZD Units 3(a) 43,690 43,690
2204 USD Units 8(a) 1,737,128 1,785,862

Net asset value per unit

2109 AUD Units 9a) AUD 686 AUD  6.13
2108 NZD Units 9fa) NZD 657 NZD 8.1
2108 USD Units 9a) USD 710 USD  6.89
2204 AUD Units 9(a) AUD BB0 AUD  0.15
2204 NZD Units g(a) NZD 826 NZD  9.31
2204 USD Units 9fa) USD 862 USD 9.40

Approved and authorised for issue by the Trustee and the Manager on 15 December 2023
R
FHRLLEPS
W=7 ) For and on behalf of
?“‘“}" {,. fhscledt') FirstCaribbean International Bank and
twiliun mscwe

} Trust Company {Cayman) Limited

AT st }

For and on behalf of
Citigroup First Investment
Management Limited {"Manager")

e T e

The notes on pages 13 to 39 form part of these financial statements.
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Ciligron Note - Tarpe! Sadting at Maturity Fund

- & saries trusd of Red Are Global Invesiments (Cayrnan) Trust

Financic! selorments for the year ended 30 Jums 2023

Statement of comprehensive income

for the year ended 30 June 2023
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise stated)

Period from

30 September

2021 (date of

commancement

Year ended  of operations) lo

Notfe 30 June 2023 30 June 2022

usD uso

Interest income G 32 £4
Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments at fair

value through profit or loss ] 398,526 (21,452 875)
Met foreign exchange (loss)igain (6,075) 44,103
Total gain/(loss) 392 483 (21.418,718)
Management fee 10 (64,526) (40,275)
Administrator, custedian and transfer agent fees 10 {70,310} (35,375)
Distributor fee 10 (428,510) (267,102)
Agent company fee 10 (7,788) (5,042}
Trustes fee 10 (15,500) (15,500
Audit fee 10 (39,053) (39,053)
Financial statement preparation fee 10 (8,400) (8,400}
Professional fee 10 (34,124} (34,124}
Preliminary expenses - (254,566)
Bank charges 10 (40) (48}
Miscellansous expenses (17.853) (17.726)
Total operating expenses (684,108) (717,311}
Change in net assets attributable to

unitholders from operations and total

comprehensive income for the year/period (251,625) (22,138,029)

The notes on pages 13 to 38 form part of these financial statements.
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Cifigroug Note = Tanger Setfing at Matudly Fund

- & senes irusl of Red Arc Global nvestments (Cayman) Trus!
Financial stalements for the pear anded 30 Juns 2023

Statement of changes in net assets attributable to

unitholders for the year ended 30 June 2023
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise stated)

Feriod from
30 Sepiember
2021 (dale of
commancament
Year ended of operatlions) to
Note 30 June 2023 30 June 2022
USD ush
Balance at the beginning of the year/period 60,858,226 -
Transactions with unitholders
Subscription of units
- 2108 AUD Units 9(a) - 7,724,414
- 2108 NZD Units S(a) - 3,660,385
- 2108 USD Units S(a) - 52,015,560
- 2204 AUD Units 8(a) = 2,435,873
- 2204 NZD Units 9(a) - 285,277
- 2204 USD Units 8(a) - 17,678,115
- 83,985,634
Redemption of units
- 2109 AUD Units S(a) {125,527) (285,207)
- 2109 NZD Units B(a) (8,498) (6,240)
- 2108 USD Units B(a) (1,402,300} (915,699)
- 2204 AUD Units S(a) (B04,931) -
- 2204 USD Units 9(a) (428 431) (18,233)
{2,588,685) {1,205,379)
Total transactions with unitholders (2,580,685) 82,794,255
Change in net assets attributable to
unitholders from operations and total
comprehensive income for the year/peried (291,625) {22,136,028)
Balance at the end of the year/period 57,796,816 60,858,226

The notes on pages 13 to 39 form part of these financial statements.
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Ciigroun Node - Target Safting at Matuly Fund

- & genes trust of Red Arc Globel investments (Cayman) Trust
Fingncial stalernents for e year endad 30 June 2023

Statement of cash flows

for the year ended 30 June 2023
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise stated)

Period from

30 September

20217 (date of

commenceament

Year ended of operations) to
30 June 2023 30 June 2022

UsD uso
Operating activities
Change in net assets attributable to unithalders fram

operations and total comprehensive income for the

year/period (291,625} (22,136,029)
Adjustments for:

Interest income (32) (54)
Operating loss before changes in working capital (291,657) (22,136,083}
Decrease/(increase) in financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss 2,595,929 (59,333,120)
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from brokers 88,800 (28,800)
{Decrease)increase in accruals and other payables (48,729) 242 486
Interest receivad az 54
Met cash generated fromf{used in) operating

activities 2,354 475 {81,325,563)
Financing activities
Froceeds from unit subscriptions - 83,599,634
Payments on unit redemptions {2.387,051) (1,205,379)

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing
activities ~ (2,387.051) 82,794,255

11
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Ciligroup Nota - Target Setling at Matunly Fund
- & seriag trus! of Red Are Global Investments (Cayman) Trus!
Financial stalements for the year snded 30 June 2023

Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 30 June 2023

(Expressed in United Stales dollars unfess otherwise stated)

Period from

20 Seplermber

2027 (date of

commencement

Yearended of operafions) lo
30 June 2023 30 June 2022

ushD uso
MNet (decrease)increase in cash and cash
equivalents (32,576) 1.468 682
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the
year/period 1,468 692 -
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the
year/period 1,436,116 1,468 892

The notes on pages 13 to 38 form part of these financial statements.
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Ciffigroup Note - Targer Setfing at Matwily Fund

- & sones irugt of Red Are Global Investrments (Caymman) Trus!
Financial stafemeants for tha year andad 30 June 2023

Notes to the financial statements
{Expressed in United Slales dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 General

Red Arc Global Investments (Cayman) Trust (the *Trust”) is an umbrella unit trust established
as an exempted trust under the Trusts Act of the Cayman Islands by a Trust Deed dated 21
October 2008, as amended and restated on 10 March 2015, between Citigroup First
Investment Management Limited as manager (the “Manager”) and FirstCarribean
International Bank and Trust Company {(Cayman) Limited as trustee (the "Trustee”) (jointly
“Management’). The Trust registered under the Mutual Funds Act of the Cayman Islands on
27 Oclober 2008. Citigroup Note — Target Setting At Maturity Fund (the “Series Trust”) was
established on 8 July 2021. The Series Trust's first dealing day was 30 September 2021.

The Series Trust's investment objective is to provide Unitholders of the applicable class of
Units with return, by adopting investment strategy set out in note B(z).

As at 30 June 2023, the Trust and the Series Trust had no employees. The investment
activities of the Series Trust are managed by the Manager. The administration and custodian
functions of the Series Trust are delegated to Citibank N.A., Hong Kong Branch (the
"Administrator” and the "Custodian”}.

2  Significant accounting policies
fa} Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable
individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards ("HKASs") and Interpretations issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. A summary of the significant accournting
palicies adopted by the Series Trust is set out below.

The previous financial statements were prepared in respect of approximately 9 months for
the period from 30 September 2021 (date of commencement of operations) te 30 June 2022,
which was the first financial period of the Series Trust. Consequently, the comparative
amounts for the statements of comprehensive income, statement of changes in net asssts
attributable to unitholders, statement of cash flows and related notes are not comparable as
they related to a shorter period than the current period.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective or available
for early adoption for the curent accounting period of the Series Trust. MNote 2(d) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulling from inilial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Series Trust for the current and prior
accounting periods reflected in these financial statements.

(b) Basis of preparation
The functional and presentation currency of the financial statements is the USD and not the

local currency of the Cayman Islands reflecting the fact that the Series Trust's performance is
measurad in USD terms.

13
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Giligroup Note - Torgel Settng at Maturty Fund
- & sanag frsf of Red Are Global [nvesiments (Cayman) Trust
Financial statements for the year snded 30 funa 2023

2  Significant accounting policies (continued)

The measuremeant basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the historical
cost basis except that certain financial instruments are stated at their fair value as explained
in the accounting policies, note 2(e) below. Other financial assets and liabilities are stated at
amortised cost or redemption amount (i.e. for redeemable uniis).

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires Management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and varicus other factors that are
believad to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by Management in the application of HKFRSs that have significant effect
on the financial statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note
19:

(e} Foreign currency fransiation

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated into USD at the foreign
exchange rates at the transactions dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated into USD at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the end of
the reporting year. Foreign currency differences arising on translation are recognised in
profit or loss as net foreign exchange gain or loss, except for those arising from financial
instruments at fair value through profit or loss, which are recognised as a component of the
net gain or loss on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss.

(d) Change in accounting policies
The HKICPA has issued a number of amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for the
current accounting period of the Series Trust. None of these developments are relevant to
the Series Trust's results and financial position.

The Series Trust has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective
for the current accounting period (see note 12).

(e} Financial instruments

(il Initial recognition
The Series Trust classifies its financial instruments into different categories at inception as
mentioned in (i) below. Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, which

normally will be equal to the transaction price. Transaction costs on financial assets and
financial lizbilities at fair value through profit or loss are expensed immediately.

14
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Citigroup Nole - Target Sefting al Maturity Fund

- & senes rust of Red Are Giobal investmants (Caymnan) Trust
Financial statements for the pear ended 30 June 2023

2  Significant accounting policies (continued)

The Series Trust recognises financial assets and financial liabilities on the date it becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. A regular way purchase or sale of
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or Ioss is recognised using
trade date accounting. From these dates, any gains and losses arising from changes in fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
recorded as they occur.

(i) Categorisation

On initial recognition, the Series Trust classifies financial assets as measured at amertised
cost or or Fair Valug Through Profit or Loss (*FVTPL").

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions
and is not designated as at FVTPL:

- it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual
cash flows; and

= Its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest (“SPPI7).

All other financial assets of the Series Trust are measurad at FVTPL.

Business model assessment

In making an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is

held, the Series Trust considers all of the relevant information about how the business is

managed, including:

- the docurnented invesiment strategy and the execution of this strategy in practice. This
includes whether the investment strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income,
maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assats
to the duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outflows or realising cash flows
through the sale of the assets;

- how the performance of the porifolio is evaluated and reported to Management;

- the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held
within that business medel) and how those risks are managed;

- how Management is compensated: e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value
of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and

- the freguency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons
for such sales and expectations about future sales activity,

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for
derecognition are not considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Series Trust's
continuing recognition of the assets.

15
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Ciligroup Node - Tange! Seifing &t Maturity Furd
- & sasss trust of Rad Arc Gioba! mvestments (Cayman) Trest
Financial statemeants for fhe yesr ended 30 June 2023

Significant accounting policies (continued)
The Series Trust has determined that it has two business models.

- Held-to-collect business model: this includes cash and cash equivalents and amounts due
from brokers. These financial assets are held to collect contractual cash flow.

- Ohther business madel: this includes debt investments. These financial instruments are

managed and their performance is evaluated, on a fair value basis, with frequent sales
taking place.

Assessment whether contraciual cash fiows are SPPI

For the purposes of this assessment, "principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial
asset on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money
and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount cutstanding during a particular
period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity nsk and administrative
costs), as well as a profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Series Trust considers the
eontractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset
contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows
such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Series Trust
considers:

contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;
- leverage features,
- prepayment and extension features;

. terms that limit the Series Trust's claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-
recourse features), and

- features that modify consideration for of the time value of meney (e.g. periodical reset of
interest rates).

The Series Trust classifies its investments based on the business model and contractual
cash flows assessment Accordingly, the Series Trust classifies all its investments in debt
investments into financial assets at FVTPL category. Financial assets measured at
amartised cost include cash and cash equivalents and amount due from brokers. Financial
liabilities measured at amortised cost include accruals and other payables and redemption
payable.

Reclassifications
- Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the
Series Trust were to change its business model for managing financial assets, in which

case all affectad financial assets would be reclassified on the first day of the first reporting
period following the change in the business model.
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Cltigraup Nabe - Targe! Selting at Maturity Fuad

- & sarlas frust of Red Arc Giobal rvestments (Cayman) Trust
Financial siefements for ihe year ended 30 June 2023

2  Significant accounting policies (continued)

{li} Fair value measurement principles

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a lizbility in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal
or, in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Series Trust has access at
that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.

When available, the Series Trust measures the fair value of a financial instrument using the
quoted price in an active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if
transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to
provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. The Series Trust measures instruments
quoted in an active market at a traded price (within bid-ask spread), because this price
provides a reasonable approximation of the exit price.

If there is no guoted market price on a recognised stock exchange or a price from a
brokeridealer for non-exchange-traded financial instruments, or if the market for it is not
active, the fair value of the instrument is estimated using valuation techniques that provide a
reliable estimate of prices which could be obtained in actual market transactions.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is nermally
the transaction price - i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or raceived. If the Series
Trust determines that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the transaction price and
the fair value is evidencad neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset
or liability nor based on a valuation technigue that used only data from observable markets,
the financial instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference
between the fair value at initial recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, that
difference is recognised in profit or loss on an appropriate basis over the life of the instrument
but no later than when the valuation is supparted whally by observable market data or the
transaction is closed out.

Where discounted cash flow technigues are used, estimated future cash flows are based on
Management's best estimates and the discount rate used is a market rate at the end of the
reporting year applicable for an instrument with similar terms and conditions. Where other
pricing models are used, inputs are based on market data at the end of the reporting year.

The Series Trust recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as at the end
of the reporting year in which the change has occurred.

(v} Impairment

The Series Trust recognises loss allowances for Expected Credit Losses (*ECLs") on
financial assets measured at amortised cost.

The Series Trust measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for
the following, which are measured at 12-month ECLs:

- financial assets that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and

- other financial assets for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default eccurring aver the
expected life of the asset) has not increased significantly since initial recognition.
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Ciligroup Nate - Targel Soling gt Malunily Fund
- a sares trust of Rad Arc Global lrvestmants (Cayman) Trust
Financial statemants for the year andad 30 June 2023

Significant accounting policies (continued)

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly
gince Initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Series Trust considers reasonable
and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This
includes both quantitative and gualitative information and analysis, based on the Series
Trust's historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking
information.

The Series Trust assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly
if it is more than 30 days past due.

The Series Trust considers a financial asset to be in default when:

- the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit cbligations fo the Series Trust in full, without
recourse by the Series Trust o actions such as realising security (if any is held); or

- the financial asset is more than 20 days past due.

The Series Trust considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when the credit rating of
the counterparty is equivalent to the globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’. The
Series Trust considers this to be Baa3 or higher per Moody's or BBE- or higher per Standard
& Poor's.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected Iife
of a financial instrument.

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible
within the 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the
instrument is less than 12 months).

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum centractual period
over which the Series Trust is exposed to credit risk.

Measurerment of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit logses are measured as the
present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the
entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Series Trust expects 1o
receive). ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.

Credii-impaired financial assets
At each reporting date, the Series Trust assesses whether financial assets camied at
amortised cost are cradit-impaired. A financial assei is "credit-impaired’ when one or more

events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset have occurred.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:
- significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

- a breach of contract such as a default or being more than 90 days past due; or

- itis probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
Presentation of allowance for ECLs in the statement of financial position

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the
gross carrying amount of the assets,

Write-off
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Series Trust has no
reasonable expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof.

Derecognition

The Series Trust derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the confraciual cash flows in a
transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial
assets are transferred or in which the Series Trust neither transfers nor retains substantially
all of the risks and rewards of ownership and does not retain control of the financial asset.

The Series Trust derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are
discharged, cancelled, or expired,

Offsatting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the
statement of financial position when, and only when, the Series Trust has a legal right to
offset the amounts and it intends to either settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultansously.

Cash and cash eguivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise deposits with banks. Cash equivalents are short-term,
highly liquid investments that are readily comvertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three months of
maturity at acquisition.
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2  Significant accounting policies (continued)

(g} Interestincome

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss as it accrues, using the original effective
interest rate of the instrument calculated at the acguisition or origination date. Interest
income includes the amortisation of any discount or premium, transaction costs or other
differences between the initial carrying amount of an interest-bearing instrument and its
amount at maturity calculated on an effective interest rate basis,

It is recorded gross of withholding tax imposed in the country of origin and such tax is
separately recognised in profit or loss, if any.

fh) Net gain or loss on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss
Met gain or loss from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss includes all
realised and unrealised fair value changes, interest income on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss and foreign exchange differences.

(i}  Preliminary expenses
Preliminary expenses of the Series Trust are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

(il Expenses
All other expenses of the Series Trust are recognised in profit or loss on an accrual basis.

(k) Income tax
Cayman lslands
Under the current taxation regime in the Cayman lslands, the Series Trust is exempt from
paying taxes on income, profits or capital gains. The Trust has received an undertaking from
the Governor in Cabinet of the Cayman Islands exempting it from tax for a period of 50 years
from the date of the creation of the Trust. Accordingly, no provision for income tax is
included in these financial statemeants.
Hong Kong

The Series Trust is not expecled fo be subject to Heng Kong tax in respect of any of its
investment activities.
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2  Significant accounting policies (continued)
(Il Redemption of units by unitholders

Unitholders may redeem units on any day on which commercial banks are open for business
in each of London, New York, Hong Kong and Tokye, and an which stock exchange markets
are open for business in Frankfurt, New York and Sydney, and/or any other day or days
designated in writing by the Manager from fime to time (the "Repurchase Day™). Units will be
redeemed at the net asset value per unit on the relevant Repurchase Day, a price which is
calculated by reference to the net asset value of the Series Trust as at the applicable
Repurchase Day.

{m) Units in issue

The Series Trust classifies financial instruments issued as financial liabilities or equity
instruments in accordance with the substance of the contractual terms of the instruments.

A puttable financial instrument that includes a contractual obligation for the issuer to
repurchase or redeem that instrument for cash or another financial asset is classified as
equity if it meets all of the following conditions:

() it entitles the holder to a pro rata share of the Series Trust's net assets in the event of
the Series Trust's liquidation;

(i) itisinthe class of instruments that is subordinate to all other classes of instruments:

(i} all financial instruments in the class of instruments that is subordinate to all other
classes of instruments have identical featuras;

{iv) apart from the contractual obligation for the Series Trust to repurchase or redeem the
instrument for cash or ancther financial asset, the instrument does not include any
other features that would require classification as a liability; and

(v} the total expected cash flows aftributable to the instrument over its life are based
substantially on the proft or loss, the change in the recognised net assets or the
change in the fair value of the recognised and unrecognised net assets of the Series
Trust aver the life of the instrument.

The Series Trust has six classes of redeemable units in issue: 2109 AUD units, 2108 NZD
units, 2109 USD units, 2204 AUD units, 2204 NZD units and 2204 USD units that rank pari
passu in all material respecis and have identical tarms and conditions except the different
classes of units are denominated in different base currencies, Maturity Dates and its
underlying reference indices. The redeemable units pravide unitholders with the right to
require redemption for cash at a value proportionate to the unitholder's share in the net
assets of the Series Trust at each Repurchase Day, and also in the event of the Series
Trust's liquidation.

The Seres Trust's redeemable units are classified as financial liabilities and are measured at
the presant value of the redemption amounts.
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2  Significant accounting policies (continued)
{n) Related parties

(a) A persan, or a close mamber of that person's family, is related to the Series Trust if that
person:

{ii  has control or joint control over the Series Trust:
{iy has significant influence over the Senes Trust, or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the Series Trust or the Series
Trust's parent.

(6) An entity is related to the Series Trust if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Series Trust are members of the same group (which means
that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or
joint venture of a member of a Series Trust of which the other entity is a
member).

liil) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of
the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of
gither the Series Trust or an entity related to the Series Trust.

{(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vi) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a
member of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the
entity).

(vili} The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the Series Trust or to the Series Trust's
parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members whe may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the Series Trust,
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Cash and cash equivalents

2023 2022
usD usD
Current deposits with a bank 1,438, 11 1,468,692

Cash held by the Series Trust is deposited with Citibank N.A., Hong Kong Branch.

Amounts due from brokers
2023 2022
UsD uUsD
Amounts dug from brokers i 98,900

The balance represents amounts due from brokers for unsettled sales which was settled
within one month.

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

2023 2022
UuspD uspD
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
Mon-derivative financial instruments:
- Citigroup Motes 56,737,191 59,333,120
Interest income
Perniod from
30 Seplember
2021 (date of
commencement

Yearended of operations) lo
30 June 2023 30 June 2022
usD usD

Interest income from bank balancas 32 54
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7  Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss

Period from
30 Se
2021 (date of
commencement
Year ended of operalions) lo
30 June 2023 30 June 2022

ush usD
Non-derivative financial instruments:
- Citigroup Notes 358.526 (21,462 ,875)
Representing:
Net realised gain 3,083,242 1,475,384
Net unrealised loss (2,684,716) (22,938,26%)
398,526 (21,462 875)

8  Financial instruments and associated risks

The Series Trust's investing activities expose it to various types of financial risks that are
associated with the financial ingtruments and markets in which it invests according to the
investment strategy. The risks that the Series Trust is exposed to are market risk, credit risk
and liquidity risk. Market risk includes interest rate risk, currency risk and price risk.

The nature and extent of the financial instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting
year and their associated financial risks, as wall as the risk management policies employed
by the Series Trust are discussed below.

fa} Investment strategy

The Series Trust's investment cbjective is to provide unitholders of the applicable class of
Units with:

{a) atarget retum expressed as a percentage of the Issue Price applicable to such class of
Units (the “Fixed Portion”) and

(b} areturn linked to the performance of the Fee Inclusive Index applicable to such class of
Units (the “Active Portion™)

The investment objective will be achieved through investment of all, or substantially all, of the
proceeds from the issue of Units in certain principal protected notes issued by the Notes
Issuer and guaranteed by the Notes Guarantor (the “Cifigroup Notes”™).
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Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)

The performance of the Citigroup Notes held for a class of Units will be linked to the Fee
Inclusive Index applicable to such class of Units. As at 30 June 2023, the performance of the
Citigroup Notes are positively linked to the performance of the following indices: Janus
Global Adaptive AUD WT4.5 Index, Janus Global Adaptive NZD WT4.5 Index, Janus Global
Adaptive USD VT4.5 Index, Janus Global Adaptive AUD VTS Index, Janus Global Adaptive
NZD VTS Index and Janus Global Adaptive NZD VTS5 Index. The Notes wil form part of a
saries of structured debt securities issued by Chigroup Global Markets Funding Luxembourg
S.C.A. (the "Notes Issuer’), the payments on which are fully and unconditionally guaranteed
by Citigroup Global Markets Limited (the *Notes Guarantor™).

For the avoidance of doubt, the Series Trust does not benefit from principal protection and is
neither insured nor guaranteed. An investment in the Seres Trust involves certain
investment risks, including the possible loss of principal.

Market risk

All investments held by the Series Trust are measured at fair value through profit or loss, and
all changes in market conditions directly affect profit or loss. Market risk is the risk that the
value of the investments will fluctuate as a result of changes in interest rates, exchange rates
or prices.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interast rates will affect the future
cash flows or the fair value of financial instruments and therefore resuit in a potential gain or
loss to the Series Trust. The Series Trust's interest rate risk is managed on an ongeing basis
by the Manager.

The following table detsils the interest rate profile of the Series Trust's interest-bearing
instruments at the end of the reporting year/period.

Period from

30 September

2021 (date of

commencement

Yearended of operations) to
30 June 2023 30 June 2022

usD UsD
Floating rate instruments:
Cash and cash equivalents 1,436,116 1,468,692
Fixed rate instruments:
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
- Citigroup Notes 56,737,181 58,333,120
Total 58,173,307 60,801,812
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Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)

The following table indicates the year/period in which the interest-bearing assets mature as
at 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2022:

Year ended 30 June 2023

Tysar Over ! yeario Ower
or less 3 years 5 years Tatal
UsD UsD UsD UsD
Asscts
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
MNon-derivative financial
instruments
- Citigroup Motes - 16,336,523 40,400 668 58,737,191
Total - 16,336,523 40,400 668 56,737,191
Period from 30 Septembear 2021 {date of cornmencement
of operations] fo 30 June 2022
1year Owveriyearto Owver
orless 5 years 5 years Tolal
usoh uso usD usD
Assets
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Mon-derivative financial
instruments
- Citigroup Motes - 18,834 824 40,458 295 58,333,120
Total ) - 16,834,824 40,498,296 59,333,120

— o

The interest income received from cash and cash eguivalents is minimal during the
year/period. As a result, cash and cash equivalents are excluded from the interest rate
sensitivity analysis.

Interest rate sensilivity

The Citigroup Motes held by the Series Trust provide exposure to interast rate linked retum
profile. At the date of the statement of financial position, assuming all other factors
unchanged, it is estimated thal an increase in interest rates of 50 (2022: 50) basis points
would result in a decrease in the net assets attributable to unitholders and the total
comprehensive income for the year/period by USD 2,030,305 (2022: USD 2,204,331}, an
equal change in the opposite direction would result in an increase in the nei asseis
attributable to unithalders and the total comprehensive income by an approximately equal
amount,

26

172/302



EDINETOOOO
000000000 00000000000000000000000000(E22200)
DOoO0O0o0oooooooooooOdn

Cifigroup Notz - Targel Setting atf Melurily Fund

= & senes lrust of Red Arc Global Invesiments [Cayman) Trus!
Financial sfatamants for the year anded 30 June 2023

8 Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)
{iiy Currency risk

The Series Trust may invest in financial instruments and enter into transactions that are
denominated in currencies other than its functional currency. Consequently, the Series Trust
is exposed o risks that the exchange rate of its functional currency relative to other foreign
currencies may change in a manner that has an adverse effect on the value of that portion of
the Series Trust's financial assets or liabilities denominated in currencies other than USD.

The fluctuations in the rate of exchange between the cumrency in which the asset or liability is
denominated and the functional currency could result in an appreciation or depreciation in
the fair value of that asset or liability. The Manager monitors the Series Trust's currency
exposures on an ongoing basis and may use derivative financial instruments for hedging the
foreign currency exposure.

As at 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2022, had USD weakened by 5% in relation o respective
currencies, with all other variables held constant, net assets altributable to unitholders and
the total comprehensive income for the yeariperiod would have increased by the amounts

noted below.
Charge in net
assets if USD
MNet weakened
axposure by 5%
ush UsD
As at 30 June 2023
Currencies
Australian Daollar 128,142 6,407
Japanese Yen 4174 208
MNew Zealand dollar 102,872 5144
Total 235,188 11,760
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Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)

Change irr nat
assels if USD
Net weakened
exposUre by 5%
usp usD

As at 30 June 2022

Currencies

Australian Dallar 31,399 1,570
Japanese Yen 9,487 474
New Zealand dollar 80,065 4,003
Total 120,851 6,047

A 5% strengthening of USD against the above curency would have resulted in an
approximately equal but opposite effect on the financial statement amounts, on the basis that
all other variables remain constant.

Price risk

Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of
changes in market prices, whether caused by factors specific to an individual investment, its
issuer or all factors affecting all instruments traded in the market,

Price sensitivity

As at 30 June 2023, it i estimated that an increase of 5% of the underlying indices (Janus
Global Adaptive AUD VT4.5 Index, Janus Global Adaptive NZD VT4.5 Index, Janus Global
Adaptive USD VT4.5 Index, Janus Global Adaptive AUD WT5 Index, Janus Global Adaptive
MNZD VT5 Index and Janus Global Adaptive USD VTS Index) of the Citigroup Notes would
have increasad the net assets attributable to unitholders and total comprehensive income for
the year/period by USD 876,099 (2022: USD 842,679); an equal change in the opposite
direction would result in an decrease in the net assets attributable to unitholders and total
comprehensive income for the year/period by an approximately equal amount.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to discharge an
obligation or a commitment that it has entered into with the Series Trust. The Series Trust's
exposure to credit risk is monitored by the Manager on an ongeing basis.

Az at 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2022, all of the Series Trust's financial assets were
exposed to credit risk. These mainly include investment in Citigroup Notes and cash placed
with a bank.

All the cash held by the Series Trust is deposited with Citibank N.A., Hong Kong Branch

which is also the Administrator and Custodian. Substantially all of the assels of the Series
Trust are held by the Custodian.
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Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)

The credit rating of Citibank N.A., Hong Kong Branch, the Custodian, is "A+" (2022: A+) as
rated by Standard & Poor's, The payment of all amounts due in respect of the Citigroup
Motes will be unconditionally and irevocably guaranteed by Citigroup Global Markets
Limited., which is currently rated "A+" (2022 A+) by Standard & Poor's. The credit rating of
Citigroup Global Markets Funding Luxembourg S.C.A., the issuer of the Citigroup Notes, is
“A+" (2022: A+) as rated by Standard & Poor's. The credit risk is considered insignificant.

Amounts arising from ECL

Impairment on cash and cash eguivalents and amounts due from brokers has been
measured on a 12-month expected loss basis and reflects the short maturities of the
exposures. The Series Trust considers that these exposures have low credit risk based on
the external credit ratings of the counterparlies.

Manager considers the probability of default to be close to zero as the counterparties have a
strong capacity to meet their contractual obligations in the near term. There is no impairment
allowance recognised on cash and cash equivalents and amounts due from brokers.

Liguidity risk

Liquidity risk arises from the risk that the Manager may not be able to conwvert investments
into cash to meet liguidity needs in a timaly manner. As unitholders may redeem units on
any Repurchase Day, the Series Trust is exposad to liquidity risk of meeting unitholdar
redemptions. Any amount payable to unitholders in respect of the redemption of units shall
normally be paid within three business days following the relevant Repurchase Day as
defined in note 2(1), subject to the receipt of the applicable sale proceeds of the investments.

Analysis of abilities by remaining maturity

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities of the Series Trust's liabilities
as at 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2022:

20 Jung 2023
Within 1 manth fo 3 months Cver 1 year
Total 1 month 3 months o 1 year o 5 years
UsD UsD UsD ush uso
HNon-trading liabilities
Arcyuals and olher
payablas 193,757 144,571 48,086
Redemption payable 182 834 182,824 - i i
Met assets attributable 1o
unitholders (note) 57,795 916 57 756,816 - - -
Total 58173307 53._12#.221 49.085 -
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8  Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)

30 June 2022
Wiithin T month fo 3 months Over 1 year
Total 1 month 3 monihs o 1 year fo 5 years
UsD usoD UsoD usD uso
MNon-trading liabilities
Accruals and other
payables 242 485 187,933 54 553 - -
Met assets attributable to
unithoiders (note) 60,858,228 60,658,228 - - -
Total 60,800,712 50 B46,158 54,653 - -

Mote: The liquidity profile of the net assets attributable to unitholders is subject to the
liquidity terms of the Series Trust as outlined in the relevant sections of the Offering
Memorandum

(e} Specific instruments

The following Citigroup Notes were outstanding as at year/period end:

As at 30 June 2023
Undedying Aggregate Maturity

Underying exposures units  principal armount dafa Fair valua
uso

Janus Global Adaptive AUD
VTS Index 2109 AUD Units AUDZ 854 470 28-Sep-31 4,287 BBG

Janus Global Adaptive NZD
VTS Index 2108 NZD Units MNZD5,291,480 29-Sep-31 2,053 426

Janus Global Adaptive USD
VTS Index 2108 USD Units  USD48,983,540 29-Bep-31 34 053,356

Janus Global Adaptive AUD
VT4.5 Index 2204 AUD Units AUD2, 358 850 25-Apr27 1,335,481

Janus Global Adaptive NZD
VT4.5 Index 2204 MNZD Units MZD436,510 26-Apr-27 216,337

Janus Global Adaptive USD
VT4.5 Index 2204 USD Units  USD17,371,280 26-Apr-27 14,784,705
58,737,191
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Ag al 30 June 2022
Unagerfying Aggregate Matunty

Underlying exposures units  principal amount data Fair value
uso

Janus Global Adaptive ALD
VTS Inclex 2108 AUD Units  AUD10,243,860 28-Sep-31 4,202 208

Janus Global Adaptive NZD
VTS Index 2109 NZD Units NZDS5, 315,530 289-Sep-31 1,961 481

Janus Global Adaptive USD
WTS Index 2109 USD Units  USDS&1,017,280 28-Sep-31 34,334 628

Janus Global Adaptive ALD
WT4.5 Index 2204 ALID Units AUD3 427 870 26-Apr-27 2,125,495

Janus Global Adaptive NZD
WT4.5 Index 2204 NZD Units NZD436,810 26-Apr-27 249,387

Janus Global Adaptive USD
WT4.5 Index 2204 USD Units  USD17,858,620 26-Apr-27 16,458,942
59,333,120

Fair values

Financial instruments carried at fair value

The following table presents the fair value of the Series Trust's financial instruments
measured st the end of the reporting year on a recurring basig, categorised into the three-
level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level into
which a fair value measurement is classified is determined with reference to the cbservability

and significance of the inputs used in the valuaticn technigue as follows:

- Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date

- Level 2 valuations:

Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which

fail to mest Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Uncbservable inputs are inputs for which market data are not
available

- Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs

3
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8 Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)

2023
Laval 1 Level 2 Level 3 Todal
usD uso s usD
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss:
Mon-derivative financial
instruments:
- Citigroup Motes - 56, 737191 - 56,737,191
- 56,737,191 - 56,737,191
2022
Laval 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
UsD uspD usp uso
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss:
Men-derivative financial
instruments:
- Citigroup Notes - 58,333,120 - 59,333,120
- 58,333,120 - 59,333,120

During the year/period ended 30 June 2023 and 2022, there were no transfers among
instruments in Level 1, Level 2 and Level 2.

(i) Finandial instruments carried at other than fair value
The financial instruments not measured at FVTPL include:

i. cash and cash equivalents, amounts dus from brokers, accruals and other payables and
redemption payable. These are short-term financial assets and financial liabilities whose
carrying amounts approximate fair value, because of their short-term nature and the high
credit quality of counterpariies, and

ii. net assets attributable to unitholders. The Series Trust routinely redeems and issues the
redeemable units at the amount equal to the proportionate share of net assets of the Series
Trust at the fime of redemption, calculated on a basis consistent with that used in these
financial statements. Accordingly, the camying amount of net asseis attributable to
unitholders approximates their fair value. The units are categorised into Level 2 of the fair
wvalue hierarchy.

3z
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Net assets attributable to unitholders

Units issued and redecmed

At 1 July 2022
Units issued during the year
Units redeemed during the year

At 30 June 2023

At 1 July 2022
Units issued during the year
Units redeemed during the year

At 30 June 2023

At 30 September 2021 (date of
commencement of operations)

Units issued during the period

Units redeemed during the pericd

At 30 June 2022

At 30 September 2021 (date of
commencement of operations)

Units issued during the pericd

Units redeemead during the period

At 30 June 2022
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. Citigroup Note - Target Selting a¢ Maturity Fung
- & senes rust of Red Arc Glabal investments [Cayman) Trust
Financial statamends for the yegr ended 30 June 2023

MNum units 2023
2109 AUD 2108 NZD 2109 USD
Units Units Units
1,024 385 531,553 5101,730
(28,948) (2,408) {203,374)
995 447 529,147 4 898,356
2204 AUD 2204 NZD 2204 USD
Units Units Units
342,767 43,690 1,785,862
(105,883 - (48.734)
235,884 - MEE 1,737,128
Number of units 2022
2109 AUD 2108 NZD 2109 UsD
Units Units Units
1,074,327 532,809 5,201,556
(49,932} {1,258) (99,826)
1,024,395 531,553 5,101,730
2204 AUD 2204 NZD 2204 UsD
Linits Units Units
342 Te7 43,680 1,787,812
E - (1,950)
342 787 43 6380 1,785,862

As at 30 June 2023, all units issued by the Series Trust are classified as financial liabilities.
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Giligroup Note - Tamet Setting & Maturily Fund

- 8 sanias trust of Red Are Global invesiments (Cayman) Trust
Fuinancial stalements for the year anded 30 June 2023

9  Netassets attributable to unitholders (continued)

The initial offering of the 2109 AUD Units was at a price of AUD 10 per unit, 2108 NZD Units
at a price of NZD 10 per unit, 2109 USD Units at a price of USD 10 per unit, 2204 AUD Units
was at a price of AUD 10 per unit, 2204 NZD Units at a price of NZD 10 per unit and 2204
USD Units at a price of USD 10 per unit. Units may be redeemed on the redemption date
and also in the event of the Series Trust's liquidation at the net asset value per unit on the
relevant redemption date.

The Series Trust has six classes of units: 2109 AUD Units, 2109 NZD Units, 2109 USD
Units, 2204 AUD Units, 2204 NZD Units, and 2204 USD Units. The rights and preference of
each of the classes of units are identical with exception of its base cumencies, its Maturity
Dates, and its underlying reference indices (refer to note 8 for details of each of the
underlying reference instrument for each share class).

In meetings of unitholders for any resolution to be proposed in respact of the Series Trust,
individual unitholder present in person, by proxy or by representative, has one vote for every
unit of which he is the holder.

The Trust and the Series Trust do not have any extemally imposed capital requirements. As
at 30 June 2023, the Series Trust had net assets attributable to unitholders of
USD57,796,816 (2022: USDG0,658,226). The Series Trust sirives to invest the funds
received from the issue of units in investments that meet the Seres Trust's investment
objectives while maintaining sufficient liquidity to meet the funding neads when unitholders
redeems their units.

Unitholders of the Series Trust cannct switch their units into units of any other series trust of
the Trust,

(b Reconciliation of net assets

The Series Trusl's expense policy with respect to certain ongoing operating fund level
expenses (e.9. professional fees, regulatory filing fees, financial statement preparation
expenses, trustee fees, and audit fees, etc) is to estimate a total amount over a ten year
period and then recegnizing such expenses ovar a three year amortization schedule. HKFRS
requires such operating fund level expenses to be recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

The reconciliation adjustment to preliminary expenses are attributable to true up to actual
amounts incurred,
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Citigroup Node - Targe! Seiting al Maturfty Fund

- & sarfes frust of Red Ars Global frvestmends (Cayman) Trust
Fingnoia! saternevds for ihe year ended 30 June 2023

Net assets attributable to unitholders (continued)

A recenciliation of the net assets between the amounts computed for valuation purposes and
the amounts computed in accordance with HKFRSs as reported is as follows:

Year ended 30 June 2023
2100 AUD 2109 NZD 2108 UsD 2204 AUD
Units Units Units Units
UsD usn usD uso
Net assets attributable to
unitholders for valuation
purposes 4,356,708 2,085,531 34,465,383 1,340,113
Adjustment for ongoing costs 33,032 15,887 261,305 10,161
Adjustment for preliminary
expense 3444 1,657 27 247 1,059
Net assets atiributable to
unithelders as reperted in the
financial statements 4,383,184 2,113,075 34,753,935 1,351,333
2204 NZD 2204 USD
Units Units Total
usD usD usD
MNet assets sttributable to unitholders
fior valuation purposes 217,291 14841918 S7.317,045
Adjustment for ongoing costs 1,648 112,827 434,550
Adjustment for preliminary expense 172 11,732 45311
Met assets attributable to unitholders
as reported in the financial

staterments 219,211 14 966,178 57,796 916
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- & savles rust of Red Arc Global investments (Caymer) Trust
Fimanenal stalements for the year anded 30 June 2023

Net assets attributable to unitholders (continued)

Pernod from 30 September 2021 (date of commencement
of operations) to 20 June 0232

2108 AUD 2108 NZD 2108 UsD 2204 AUD
Units Units Units Units
usD usD usD uUsD
Mel asseis allributable o
unitholders for valuation
purposes 4,302,884 2,012,212 35,007,751 2148 385
Adjustment for ongeoing costs 11627 5437 94 5090 5,805
Adjustrmant for praliminany
expense 3,287 1,537 28,737 1,641
Adjustment for timing differenca 22 11 181 11
Met assets atfributable to
unitholders as reported in the
financial staternents 4,317,820 208,197 35,129,269 2,155,842
2204 NZD 2204 USD
Units Units Total
uso usD uUsD
Net assets attributable to unitholders
for valuation purposes 252 066 16,725,101 60,448 399
Adjustment for ongaing costs 681 45,191 163,331
Adjustment for preliminary expense 193 12,774 45,188
Adjustment fior timing difference 1 2} ] 327
Met assets aftributable to unitholders
as reported in the financial
statements 252,841 16,783,157 60,668,226

Thers was no timing difference between units issued reported under HKFRSs and the
offering memearandum during the year/period ended 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2022,
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=& saas frust of Red Arc Global Inrvestments (Cayrman) Trust
Fingrcial statemants for the yeor ended 30 June 2023

10 Related parties and other key contracts
{a) Related parties

Charges and expenses from related parties in respect of services provided to the Series
Trust are as follows:

Management fee: The Manager is entitled to a management fee of 0.08% per
annum of the Calculation Amount ie. issuance value
attributable to each class of Units. The fee is accrued daily
and payable monthly in arears.

Administrator fee: The Administrator is entitled to receive in respect of each class
of Units, payable out of the trust fund of the Series Trust, an
administration fee of 0.06% per annum of the Caleulation
Amount i.e. issuance value aftributable to each class of Units,
calculated and accrued daily, and payable monthly in arrear,
during the period commencing from (but excluding) the
Clesing Date for that class of Units and ending on (and
including) the Citigroup Notes maturity date for that class of
Units, in consideration of its adminisirative services in relation
to the assets of the Series Trust.

Custodian fee: The Custodian is entitled to receive in respect of sach class of
Units, payable out of the trust fund of the Series Trust, a
custodian fee of 0.01% per annum of the Calculation Amaount
i.e. issuance value attnbutable to each class of Units
calculated and accrued daily and payable manthly in arrear,
during the period commencing from (but excluding} the closing
date for that class of Units and ending on (and including) the
Citigroup Notes maturity date for that class of Units, in
consideration of its custody services in relation to the assets of
the Series Trust, and other duties and functions performed as
custodian to the Series Trust.

Trustee fee: The Trustee charges a fee of USD15,000 per annum.
Agent company fee: The Agent Company charges a fee of 0.01% per annum of the

Calculation Amount i.e. issuance value attributable to each
class of Units. The fee is accrued daily and payable monthly

in arrears.
Professional fee: The Trustee charges an AML fee of USD5,000 per annum.
Financial statements The Administrator is entitled to a fee of USD4,000 per financial
preparation fee: statement preparation.
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Ciligroup Note - Targe! Sattg af Maluily Fund
- & srmes irust of Red Arc Global lnvestments (Caymarn) Trust
Flnancial staferments for the yeer andad 30 Jume 2023

Related parties and other key contracts {continued)

The following summarises the significant related party transactions of the Series Trust:

Period from
20 Septembear 20271
(date of commencement of
Year ended 30 June 2023 operations) to 30 June 2022
Expenses Payable Expenses Fayable
usD uUsD usD LUsD
Management fee 64,528 5375 40,375 7,487
Administration, transfer agency
and custodian fees 70,310 13,938 35,375 34,045
Trustee fee 15,500 2,993 15,500 16,500
Agent company fee 7,785 669 5,042 043
Professional fee £,000 8,875 5,000 5,000
Financial statements preparation
fee 8,400 8,800 8,400 8,400

The Series Trust utilises the banking services of the Administrator in the ordinary course of
their banking and securities custodian business. Information relating to the cash and cash
equivalents and investment balance is disclosed in note 3 and note 5 respectively. During
the year ended 30 June 2023, the interest income eamed from the bank balances
maintained with the Administrator amounted to USD32 (2022: USD54) and the bank charges
incurred amounted to USD40 (2022; USD48).

The issuers of Citigroup Notes, Citigroup Global Markets Funding Luxembourg S.C.A_, is an
affiliated entity of the Manager. Information relating to the investment balance is disclosed in
note 5 and note &(e).

Other key contracts
Distributor

The Distributor charges a fee of 0.53% per annum of the issuance value of the Series Trust
per unit for each unit that the Distributor is the registered holder. The fee is accrued daily
and payable monthly in amears. During the year ended 30 June 2023, distributor fee
incurred amounted to USD426,510 (2022; USD267,102). As at year end date, USD35,418
(2022: USD35,348) of the distributor fiee remained payable.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Estimation of fair values

The fair values of financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss are
derived by valuation models using current market parameters as described in note 2(e)(iii).
Fair value estimates are made at a specified point in time, based on market conditions and
information about the financial instruments. Thease estimates are subject in nature and
involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgement and there cannct be determined
with precision. Mevertheless, fair values can be reliably determined within a reasonable
range of estimates.
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- & sanles frust of Red Arc Global Invesimants (Cayman) Trust
Fimancial latements for the year ended 30 June 2023

12 Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 30 June 2023

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a few
amendments and new standards which are not yet effective for the year ended 30 Juna 2023
and which have not been adopted in these financial statements. These include the following
which may be relevant to the Series Trust.

Effective for

accounting penods

beginning on or after

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as Current or 1 January 2023

MNon-currant

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Staterment 2, 1 January 2023
Disclosure of accounting policies

Amendmants to HKAS 8, Definition of accounting estimates 1 January 2023

The Series Trust is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these
amendments, new standard and interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial
application. So far the Series Trust has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to
have a significant impact on the Series Trust's results of operations and financial position.

13 Subsequent events
In preparing these financial statements, the Series Trust has evaluated and concluded that
cther than the matters listed in the follow paragraph, there are no subsequent events
required to be disclosed up to the date of the auditors’ report. which is the date that the
financial statements are available to be issued.

With effect from 23 August 2023, Song Li resigned as a director of the Manager, also with
effect from 23 August 2023, Wel Guo was appointed as a director of the Manager.

With effect from 20 November 2023, Cyrille Troublaiewitch resigned as a director of the
Manager, also with effect from 20 November 2023, Lionel Claude Pascal Franjou was
appointed as a director of the Manager.
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Citigroup Note - Target Satfing Af Maturity Fusd
- & saries trush of Rad Arc Global Imvesiments (Cayroan) Trusl

Year ended 30 June 2023
Supplementary information (unaudited)
Performance table
(Expressed in United States dolisrs)
Period from
30 Septernber
2021 (date of
cormmencement

Year ended  of operations) {o
30 June 2023 30 June 2022

Total net asset value (calculated in accordance with

the Explanatary Memorandum) USD57,317,045 USD60,448,309
Net asset value per unit (calculated in accordance with

the Explanatory Memorandum)
- 2108 AUD Units AUD 6680 AUD 6.11
- 2109 NZD Units NZD 6.52 NZID 6.08
- 2108 USD Units usD 7.04 UsD 6.88
- 2204 AUD Units AUD 8.53 AUD 911
- 2204 NZD Units NZD 8.18 NZD 9.28
- 2204 USD Units UsD 8.54 USD 8.37

Prica record (calculated in accordance with the
Explanatory Memorandum}):

- Highest net asset value per unit dunng the

year/period
- 2109 AUD Units AUD B.77 AUD 10.00
- 2109 NZD Units NZD 676 NZD 10.00
- 2109 USD Units uspo 731 UsD 10.00
- 2204 AUD Units AUD 944 AUD 10.00
- 2204 NZD Units NZD 8.52 NID 10.00
- 2204 USD Units usp 953 UsD 10.00
- Lowest net asset value per unit during the

year/period
- 2108 AUD Units AUD 5.44 AUD 587
- 2108 NZD Units NZD 535 NIZD 595
- 2109 USD Units usD 6.07 USD 6.78
- 2204 AUD Units AUD 8.35 AUD 9.04
- 2204 NZD Units NZD 7.88 NZD 923
- 2204 USD Units usp 826 UsD a3
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Cltigraup Note - Targe! Selting Al Maturily Fund
-8 sovvas st of Red Arc Globai invesimants (Cayman) Trust

Year anded 30 June 2023
Supplementary information (unaudited)
Performance table (continued)
(Expressed in United States doliars)
Period from
30 September
2021 (date of
commencemert

Year ended of operations) to
30 June 2023 30 June 2022

- Net investment return during the year/period

- 2109 AUD Units 8.02% -38.90%
- 2108 NZD Units 7.08% -38.10%
= 2109 USD Units 2.62% -31.40%
- 2204 AUD Units -6.37% -8.90%
- 2204 NZD Units -11.75% =7.20%
- 2204 USD Units -8.86% -B.30%

The net investment retum for the year/period was calculated by referance to the difference
between the net asset value per unit (calculated in accordance with the Offering
Memaorandum) of the Series Trust at the year/period end date and the year beginning
datefdate of commencement of operations, divided by its year beginning date/date of
commencement of operations net asset value per unit to obtain the retum in percentage.
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2023 10
53,967,485.53 | 8,068,678,762
741,881.90 110,918,763
53,225,603.63 | 7,957,759,999
2109 985,246.901
2109NZ 522,847.453
2109 4,843,869.500
2204 236,884.485
2204NZ 43,690.451
2204 1,718,450.845
2109 6.30 600
2109NZ 6.18NZ 539
2109 6.57 982
2204 8.26 786
2204NZ 8.04NZ 701
2204 8.22 1,229
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200 200 3,824 2023 10
100 1,912
2023 10 67,831,620 13

32
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16 2006  APAC
2010 2011
ETF ETF
2011 2015
2018 EMEA
2022
APAC

50 F, Champion Tower, Three Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong

2023 10 44

APAC

50

1,604,550,793
27,331
459,183,357,831

26

17
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2022 12 31
2022 12 31
2022 2022 2021 2021
58,037,164 1,109,670,576 81,829,082 1,564,572,048
3,939 75,314 3,473 66,404
() 1,125,854 21,526,328 (161,332) (3,084,668)
59,166,957 1,131,272,218 81,671,223 1,561,553,784
(37,143,151) (710,177,047) (61,875,944)  (1,183,068,049)
22,023,806 421,095,171 19,795,279 378,485,734
) (3,443,700) (65,843,544) (3,286,113) (62,830,481)
18,580,106 355,251,627 16,509,166 315,655,254
11 30 ( )
13
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2022 12 31
2022 12 31
2022 2022 2021 2021
() 13,149 251,409 15,021 287,202
3,985,588 76,204,443 6,373,203 121,855,641
79,042,876 1,511,299,789 309,193,039 5,911,770,906
83,028,464 1,587,504,232 315,566,242 6,033,626,547
11,998,401 229,409,427 28,471,600 544,376,992
©) 149,368 2,855,916 647,429 12,378,842
12,147,769 232,265,343 29,119,029 556,755,834
70,880,695 1,355,238,888 286,447,213 5,476,870,713
70,893,844 1,355,490,297 286,462,234 5,477,157,914
@) 2,000,200 38,243,824 2,000,200 38,243,824
68,893,644 1,317,246,473 284,462,034 5,438,914,090
70,893,844 1,355,490,297 286,462,234 5,477,157,914
2023 20
)
)
)
)
)
11 30 ( )
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2022 12 31

2022 12 31
2021 2,000,200 267,952,868 269,953,068
16,509,166 16,509,166
2021 12 31 2,000,200 284,462,034 286,462,234
2022 2,000,200 284,462,034 286,462,234
18,580,106 18,580,106
13 (234,148,496) (234,148,496)
2022 12 31 2,000,200 68,893,644 70,893,844
2021 38,243,824 5,123,258,836 5,161,502, 660
315,655,254 315,655,254
2021 12 31 38,243,824 5,438,914,090 5,477,157,914
2022 38,243,824 5,438,914,090 5,477,157,914
355,251,627 355,251,627
13 (4,476,919,244) (4,476,919,244)
2022 12 31 38,243,824 1,317,246,473 1,355,490,297

11 30
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2022 12 31
2022 2022 2021 2021
22,023,806 421,095,171 19,795,279 378,485,734
(3,939) (75,314) (3,473) (66,404)
22,019,867 421,019,857 19,791,806 378,419,331
2,387,615 45,651,199 2,122 40,573
(16,473,199) (314,967,565) 9,884,391 188,989,556
7,934,283 151,703,491 29,678,319 567,449,459
(3,939,889) (75,330,678) (2,013,442) (38,497,011)
3,994,394 76,372,813 27,664,877 528,952,448
3,939 75,314 3,473 66,404
3,939 75,314 3,473 66,404
(234,148,496)  (4,476,919,244)
(234,148,496)  (4,476,919,244)
(230,150,163)  (4,400,471,117) 27,668,350 529,018,852

309,193,039

5,911,770,906

281,524,689

5,382,752,054

79,042,876

1,511,299,789

309,193,039

5,911,770,906
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2022 2021
58,037,164 81,829,082

2022 2021
11,525,187 25,849,811
19,703,288 23,385,076
4,154,685 10,511,444
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503,043 475,086
630,894 697,584
626,054 956,943
2022 2021
(3,813) (6,155)
3,445,641 3,290,087
3,441,828 3,283,932
1,872 2,181
3,443,700 3,286,113
16.5 (2021  16.5 )
2022 2021
22,023,806 19,795,279
3,633,928 3,266,221
(186,415) 26,047
(3,813) (6,155)
3,443,700 3,286,113
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2022 2021
647,429 (623,061)

(3,939, 889) (2,013,442)

(3,813) (6,155)

) 3,445,641 3,290,087

149,368 647,429

2021 17,202 17,202
(2,181) (2,181)

2021 12 31 15,021 15,021
2022 15,021 15,021
(1,872) (1,872)

2022 12 31 13,149 13,149

2022 12 31
2021
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383

2022 2021
8,278,000 7,778,000
3,512,997 9,857,857
3,992,035 2,431,474

860,700 808,200

16,643,732 20,875,531
2022 2021

79,042,876 309,193,039

2022 2021
3,607,843 5,018,058

186,649 1,239,606
191,096 115,539

3,985,588 6,373,203
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2022 2021

1,612,852 2,719,835

9,898,636 25,283,479

486,913 468,286

11,998,401 28,471,600

2022 2021

12 31 20,002 2,000,200 20,002 2,000,200

135
2022 12
31 70,893,844 2021 286,462,234

100,000

211/302



10

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2022 2021
() 58,037,164 81,829,082
() (19,703, 288) (23,385,076)
19
20
25
27
28
31
1703 32 2022
30
33 2022 17
1710 34 2022
30
36
225 37

1802 38 2022 12 30
39

1809 40
41

1903 42

10

43

44
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45
46
47
48
2022 24
225 49
50
52 2022
21
2203 55
2022 31 1
54
53
2022 17 2
2012
1 53 55
2 55 53
/

19 20 25 27 28 31 32 33 34 36 37 38 39 40 41 42 43
44 45 46 47 48 49 50 52 53 54 55

0.01 0.57
19 39 45 48
70 55 55
55 2022 12 31 19

39 45 48

19,703,288 2021 : 23,385,076

2022
12 31 11,525,187 2021 25,849,811
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2022 2021

16,643,732 20,875,531
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2022 2021 12 31
2022 2021
2022 2021
228 603,092 33,081,601 3,419 952,524 8,172,619
1,821,512 2,191,885 2,617,546 3,768,281
(1,171,231)  (10,153,942) (1,473,267)  (25,290,774)
228 1,253,373 25,119,544 3,419 2,096,803 (13,349,874)
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2022 2021
« D « D)
« D « D
7.91 18 1.87 64
(1.01) (35)
9.40 117,817 0.14 2,936
(0.10) (1,253) (0.85) (17,823)
2021
2022 12 31 2021 12 31

12

2022 12 31

2022 12 31
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Citlgrone st investment Managemant Limitad

Financiai stalements for the year ended 31 Decermber 2022

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

for the year ended 31 December 2022

(Expressed in Hong Kong doliars)

Note
Revenue 2
Interest income
Foreign exchange gain/{loss)
Olher operating expenses
Profit before taxation 3
Income tax 4(a)

Profit and total comprehansive incomea for
the year

2022
5

58,037,164
3,839
1,125,854
59,166,957

(37,143,151)

2021
S

81,820,082
3,473

81,671,223

(681,675,944)

22,023 E06

(3,443,700)

18.580,106

19,795,279

(3,286,113)

16,509,166

The notes on pages 11 to 30 form part of these financial statements. Details of dividends
paid to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to the profit for the year are set oul

in note 13,
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Cifigraup Fees! investment Menagement Limied
Financiad sfatemants for the year anded 21 Decamber 2022

Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

MNote 2022 2021
5 5
Non-current assets
Deferrad tax assets 4(d) R ElﬂE ____._15_,0_21
Current assets
Agcounts receivable and other assets 7 3,985,588 6,373,203
Cash and cash eguivalents & 79,042 B76 309,193,039
83028 484 315,566,242
Current liabilities
MAccounts payable and accrued expenses B 11,998 401 28,471,800
Current taxation 4(c) 149,368 847,429
12,147,769 28,119,029
Net current assets __ 70880695 _286.447.213
MET ASSETS 70,883 844 286,462 234
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital a(a) 2,000,200 2,000,200
Reserves B8 883 644 " 284 462 034
TOTAL EQUITY 70,893 844 285 462 234

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of diractorson 2 0 APR 2023

)
/,;;r”"“ {4" ?Dir&dnr&

[

.'.r i

The notes on pages 11 to 30 form part of these financial slatements.
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Financial smataments for the year engad 31 December 2022

Statement of changes in equity

for the year ended 31 December 2022

{Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Share

Mote capital

Balance at 1 January 2021 2,000,200
Total comprehensive income far

the year

Balance at 31 December 2021 o _2_,!210_{_!,200

Balance at 1 January 2022 2,000,200
Total comprahensive income for

the year -

Dividend paid 13 -

Balance at 31 December 2022 2,000,200

Retained
profits
3

267,952 858

16,508,166
284 462,024
284,462,034

18,580,106
(234,148,496)

68,893 644

The notes on pages 11 to 30 form parl of these financial statements.
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Ciffgroun Firs! imsesiment Managament [ imitad
Fingnci statemeants for the year ended 3§ December 2022

Statement of cash flows

for the year ended 31 December 2022

{Expressed in Hong Kong doffars)

Note 2022 2021
b 5
Operating activities
Profit befare taxation 22023806 19,795,279
Adjustment for;
Interest income (3,939) (3.473)
Operating cashflow before changes in
working capital 22018 867 18,791,806
Decrease in accounts receivable and other
assets 2,387,615 2,122
(Decrease)fincrease in accounts payable and
accrued expenses (16,473,199) 9,884,391
Cash generated from operating activities 7.934,283 28,678,318
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (3,939,889) (2,01 3.#_42!
Met cash generated from operating activities 3994394 __21_@!3'481:?_
Investing activities
Interest received 3939 3473
Met cash generated from investing activities 3,939 3,473
Financing activities
Dividends paid to equity shareholder of the
Company 13 _{?34.148.4%1 _
Met cash used in financing activities L 1{_2_1’:_4_1_45_436} _____________
Net (decreasellincrease in cash and cash
equivalents (230,150.163) 27 688,350
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 309,193.039 281,524 658
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 6 79,042 878 309,193,039

The notes on pages 11 to 30 form part of these financial statements

10
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Cligroup First Invasimant Managemant Limited
Financipl staternents for the yeer ended 31 Decemnber 2022

Notes to the financial statements
(Expressed in Hong Kong doflars)

Significant accounting policies
Statement of compliance

These financial statemants have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kaong
Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Cerified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA™), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. Significant accounting policies
adopled by the Company are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective or available
for early adoption for the current accounting period of the Company. Mote 1(c) provides
infarmation an any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Company for the current and prior
accounting periods reflected in these financial statements.

Basis of praparation of the financial statements

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the historical
cost basis.

The Company has chosen Hong Kong dollars as its functional currency which reflects the
economic substance of the underlying assets and circumstances relevant to the Company.
All values are rounded to the nearest Hong Kong dollar, unless otherwise indicated.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets. liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and vanous other factors that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstancas, the rasults of which form the basis of making the
judgements about camying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other scurces. Actual results may differ from these estimates

The eslimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the

revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Lk
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Cwlgroup Fist investment Managamen! Limied
Financial statements for the poar anded 37 Decambar 2022

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Changes in accounting policies

A number of new standards are effective from 1 January 2022 but they do not have a
material effect on the Company’s financial statements,

Cash and cash equivalenis

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with
banks and other financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity at acquisition.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Company as revenue when it arises from the trading aclivities, the
provision of services in the ordinary course of the Company's business.

The Company is the principal for its revenue transactions and recognises revenue on a gross
basis. In determining whether the Company acts as a principal or as an agent, it considers
whelther it abtaing contral of the services before they are transferred to the customers,
Contral refers to the Company's ability to direct the use of and oblain substantially all of the
remaining benefits from the sernvices.

Revenue is recognised when control over service is transferred to the customer, at the
amount of promised consideration to which the Company is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

VWhere the contract contains a financing component which provides a significant financing
benefit to the customer for more than 12 months, revenue is measured at the presant value
of the amount recelvable, discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction with the customer, and interest income is accrued separately
under the effective interest method. Where the contract contains a financing compaonent
which provides a significant financing benefil to the Company, revenue recognised under that
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under the effective
interest method. The Company takes advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph 63
of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for any effects of a significant financing
component if the period of financing is 12 months or lass,

Further details of the Company's revenue and other income recognition policies are as
follows:

= Investment management fee income is recognised when the relevant services have been
rendered.

- Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective intarest method using the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

12
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Cigroup First Invasiman! Managament Limred
Financial siotemeris for the yeer endad 31 December 2022

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(i Provisions and cantingent liahilities

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a legal or constructive obligation arising
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money
is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle
the obligation.

Where it is not probabla that an outflow of economic benafits will be requirad. or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of cutflow of economic benafits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are
also disclosed as conlingent liabilities unless the probability of cutflow of economic benefits
i5 remole.

{g) Accounts and other receivables

Accounts and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less allowance for credit losses (see note
1(k)(v)). except where the receivables are interest-free loans made to related parties without
any fixed repayment tenms or the effect of discounting would be immalerial. In such cases,
the receivables are stated at invoice amounts less allowance for impairment of doubtful
debis

Impaimmeant losses for bad and doubtful debts are recognised when there is objective
evidence of impairment and are measured as the difference between the carrying amount of
the financial asset and the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the asset's criginal
effactive interest rate where the effect of discounting is material

Objective evidence of impairment includes observable data that comes to the attention of the
Company about events that have an impact on the asset's estimated future cash flows such
as significant financial difficulty of the debtor.

{h) Translation of foreign currencies
Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monelary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are transiated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange

rates ruling at the end of reporting pericd. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

13
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Cuigroup Firs! lnvesimen Mamagement Limned
Financial stademarnts for the year anded 11 Cecambar 2022

Significant accounting policies (continued)
income tax

Income tax for the year comprises cument tax and movements in deferred tax assets. Current
tax and movements in defarred tax assets are recognised in the statement of profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respeclively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to
tax payable in respect of previous years.

Defarred tax assets arise from deductible temporary differences, being the differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and
the tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused lax losses and unusad tax credits,
Apart from differences which arige on initial recognition of assets and liabilities, all deferred
tax assets to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reparting perod. Deferred tax assets are not
discounted

Current tax balances and deferred lax balances, and movements therein, are presented
separalely from each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against current
tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities if, and only if, the
Company has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities. The principle of offsetting usually applies {o income tax levied by the same tax
authority on the same taxable entity.

Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Company if Lhal
person:

{iy has control or joint control over the Company,
(i}  has significant influence over the Company, or

(i} is a member of the key management personnel of the Company or the
Company's parent.

14
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Citgroup Fust inveziment Menagement Limied
Financial statements for tha year ended 31 Decembar 2022

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(b}  Anentity is related to the Company if any of the following conditions applies:

i)  The entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i} One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or
joint venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

{iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of
the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Company or an entity related to the Company.

(vi) The entity is contralied or jointly controlled by a persan identified in {a).

{vii) A person identified in (a){i) has significant influence over the entity or is a
member of the key managemeant parsonnel of the entity (or of a parent of the
entity).

{viii} The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a parl, provides key
management personnel services to the Company or to the Company’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity,

Financial instruments
Initial recognition

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, which normally will be equal to the
lransaction price, plus, in case of a financial asset or financial liability not held al fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisilion or issue
of the financial asset or financial liakility.

The Company recognises financial assets and financial liabilities on the date it becomes a
party to the contraclual provisions of the instrument. A regular way purchase or sale of
financial assets is recognised using trade date accounting. From this date, any gains and
losses arising from changas in fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities are
recorded.

15
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Ciigroug First Invesimen! Management Limidod
Financial stataras for the year anded 37 December 2022

1  Significant accounting policies (continued)

(i} Classification and subsequent measurement

(A)

Classification of financial asgets

On initial recognition, the Company classifies financial assets as measured at
amortised cost or FVTPL.

A financial asset is measured at amortisad cost if it meaats both of the fallowing
conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL.

- itis held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collact
contractual cash flows; and

- its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest ("SPPI"}

All other financial assets of the Company are measured at FVTPL.
Business model assessmeant

In making an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial
assel is held, the Company considers all of the relevant information about how the
business is managed, including:

- {he documented investment strategy and the execution of this strategy in practice
Thig includes whether the invesiment strategy focuses on earning contractual
interest income, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration
of the financial assats to the duration of any related liabilities or expected cash
outflows or realising cash flows through the sale of the assets,

- how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Company's
management;

- the risks that affect the performance of the business model {and the financial assels
held within that business model) and how those risks are managed;

- how the managers of the business are compensated: e.g. whether compensation is
based on the fair value of the assels managed or the contractual cash flows
collected; and

- the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior pericds, the
reasens for such sales and expectations about future sales activity

Financial agsels that are held for trading or managed and whose performance is
evaluated on a fair value basis are measured at FVTPL because they are neither held

to collect contractual cash flows nor held both to collect contractual cash flows and to
sell financial assets.

16
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Cifigreniap Ficgt invasimen! Meanagemen! Limited
Fmancial statements far the yoar ended 371 Decembar 2022

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(8)

Assessment whether contractual cash flows are SPPI

For the purposes of this assessment, 'principal is defined as the fair value of the
financial asset on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration far the time
value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding
during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (2.g.
liquidity fisk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Company considers the
contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial
asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual
cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the
Company considers:

contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;

leverage features,
- prepayment and extension features;

- terms that limit the Company's claim to cash flows from specified assels (e.g. non-
recourse features); and

- fealures that modify consideration of the time value of money (e.g. pericdical reset
of interest rates)

Reclassifications

Financial assets are nol reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the
pericd after the Company changes its business model for managing financial assets.

Classification of financial assets

Loans and receivabias

Loans and receivables include amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, accounts
receivable and other assets and cash and cash equivalents, These assets are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Other financial abifities

Financial liahilities includes amount due to fellow subsidiaries and accounts payable

and accrued expenses. These liakilities are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from
the financial asset expire, or where the financial assel together with substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership, have been transferred.

17
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Citigrowag First investman! Managaement! Limidsd
Financial sislements far he year ended 31 December 2022

Significant accounting policies (continued)

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

The Company uses the weighted average method to determine realised gains and losses to
be recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
derecognition.

Offselting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reparted in the
statement of financial position where there is a legally enforceable night to offset the
recognised amounts and thene is an intantion to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and
settle the liability simultangously.

Impairment

The Company recognises loss allowances for ECLs on financial assets measured at
amortised cost.

The Company measures loss allowances al an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the
following, which are measured at 12-manth ECLs:

- financial assets that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and

- other financial assets for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the
expacted life of the asset) has nat increased significantly since initial recognition

The Company assumes that the credit risk on a financial assel has increased significantly if it
is more than 30 days past due.

The Company considers a financial instrument to have low credit risk when its credit risk
rating is equivalent to the globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life
of a financial instrument,

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible
within the 12 menths after the reporting date {or a shorter period if the expected life of the
instrument is less than 12 months).

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period
over which the Company is exposed to credit risk.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are the probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as
the present value of all cash sherifalls (i e. the difference batween the cash flows due to the
entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Company expects to
receive).

ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset

18

229/302



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Ciligroup First nvestman! Managemen! Limded
Financial sietemems for the yesr andad 371 Decamber 2022

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Credil-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised
cast are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have
occumed.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following cbservable data:

- gignificant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

- abreach of contract such as a default or being more than 90 days past due; or

- itis probable that the borrower will enfer bankruptey or other financial reorganisation

Presentation of allowance for ECLs in the statemant of financial position

Loss allowances for financial assels measured at amorlised cost are deducted from the
gross carrying amount of the assets

Whrite-aff

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Company has no
reasonable expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof,

Revenue

The principal activity of the Company is the provision of investment management services,

2022 2021
$ 3
Revenue from contracts with customers
within the scope of HKFRS 15
Invesiment management fea income 58,037,164 81,829,082
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Citigrawe First ivestment Managemant Limited
Financial stsfements for e year ended 31 Decembar 2022

3  Profit before taxation

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:

2022 2021

5 5

Management fee expenses 11,525 187 25,849,611
Sub-manager fee expenses 19,703.288 23,385,076
Legal and professional fee 4,154 685 10,511,444
Auditors' remuneration 503,043 475,086
Custody expenses 630,894 697,584
Printing expenses - -
Others 626,054 856,943

4 Income tax

(a] Income tax in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

represents:
2022 2021
5 B
Current tax - Hong Kong Profits Tax
Owver-provision in respect of the prior years (3,813) (8,155)
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year 3445641 3,290,087
3.441 828 3,283,932
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 1,872 2,181

3,443,700 3,286,113

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2022 is calculated at 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) of the
estimaled assessable profits for the year,
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Ctigrowp Firs! Imvestment Management Limded
Financial statemants for the year ended 21 December 2022

Income tax (continued)

Recanciliation between income tax charged to profit or loss and accounting profit at

applicable tax rates:

2022 2021
Profit before taxation 22,023,806 19,785,279
Motional tax an profit befare taxation at 16.5%
(2021: 16.5%) 3,633,928 3,266,221
Tax effect of non-taxable income and non-deductible
loss (186,415) 26,047
Cwer-provision in respect of prior years {3,813) {6,155)
Actual tax expense 3443700 3,286,113
Current tax payable in the statement of financial position represents:
Mote 2022 2021
¥ 5
Current taxation bought forward 647 429 (623,061)
Hong Kang Profits Tax Paid (3,830,888) (2.013.443)
Balance of Hong Kong Profits Tax provision
relating to prior years (3.813) (8,155)
Pravision for Hong Keng Profits Tax for the
year 4(a) 3,445 841 3.280.087
149,368

21

232/302

G647 429



(d)

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Cibgroup First Invesinmen! Menagement Limiad
Financia! sfatamaniz for tha year ended 37 December 2022

Income tax {continued)

Deferred tax asseis recognised:

The components of deferred tax assets recognised in the statement of financial position and
the movements during the year are as follows:

Depreciation
in excess af
the related
deprecialion
allowances Total
3 -
At 1 January 2021 17,202 17,202
Charged to statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income {2,181} (2.181)
At 31 December 2021 15,021 15.62_1
At 1 January 2022 15,021 15,021
Charged to statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income {1.872) (1 .B??}

At 31 December 2022 1 §,149 13,14.9
As at 31 December 2022, there is no significant deferred tax asset or liability not recognised
or provided for (2021: $Nil).

Directors' emoluments

Directors' emeluments disclosed pursuant to saction 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulations are as follows:

2022 2021

5 ]

Directors’ fees 5 -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind B, 278,000 7,778,000
Discrationary bonusas 3,512,997 9,857,857
Share based payments 3,992,035 2431474
Retirement scheme contributions E'EIZEDD E_E}S,EEE)
16,643,732 20,875,531
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Cigrove Frst investmend Managamend! Limifed
Financial stafarmants for the year ended 31 December 2022

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

2022 2021

3 s

Cash at bank 79,042 876 308,193,039
Accounts receivable and other assets

2022 2021

5 3

Investment managament fee receivable 3,607,843 5,018,058

Legal and professional fee receivable 185,649 1,239,606

Others 191,096 115,539

3 985 588 6,373,203

All of the above fee receivables are due from funds managed by the Company. All the fee
receivables are interest free, unsecured and expected to be settled within three months.

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

2022 2021

3 §

Legal and prafessional fee payable 1,612,852 2,719,835
Other payable £.898 638 25,283 479
Audit fer 486 913 468,288
11,998 401 28,471 600

All accounts payable and accrued charges are interest free, unsecured and expected to be
settled within three months.
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Catigroun First Investmen! Manegement Limided
Ewranceal statemants for the yaar anded 31 December 2022

Share capital
Issued share capital
2022 2021
No. of No. of
sharas Amount shares Amount
& $
Ordinary shares, issued and
fully paid:

At 1 January and 31 December 20,002 2,000,200 20,002 2,000,200

In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, the ordinary shares
of the Company do not have a par value.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time
and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank
equally with regard to the Company's residual assets

Capital management

The Company's primary aobjective when managing capital is to safeguard the Company's
ability to continue as a going concern. As the Company is part of a larger group, the
Company's sources of additional capital and policies for distribution of excess capital may
also ba affected by the group's capital management objectives.

The Company defines “capital” as including all components of equity. On this basis the amount
of capital employed at 31 December 2022 was $70,893 844 (2021: $286 462,234).

The Company's capital structure is regularly reviewed and managed with due regard to the
capital management practices of the group to which the Company belongs. Adjustments are
made to the capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions affecting the
Company or the group, to the extent that these do not conflict with the directors’ fiduciary
duties towards the Company or the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The resulis of the directars’ review of the Company's capital structure are used as a basis for
the determination of the level of dividends, if any, that are declared.

As a licensed corporation registered under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Ordinance,
the Company is also subject to the capital requirements of the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures (Financial Resources) Rules ("FRR"). The minimum liquid capital requirement is the
higher of $100,000 and the variable required liquid capital as defined in the FRR. The
Company monitors its compliance with the requirements of the FRR on a daily basis. The
Company complied with the requirements of the FRR at all times during the year.
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Citigroup Fies! lnvestment Managemen! Limiled
Financial stalemants for the year anded 31 Decambar 2022

Related party transactions

In addition to those disclosed elsewhers in the financial statements, the Company had
transactions in the normal course of business with related parlies as follows:

Fee income and expenses

Mote 2022 2021
¥ $
Fee income
Investment management fee income (i} 58,037 164 81,829 082
Fee expenses
Sub-manager fee expenses {iii) (19.703,288) (23,385,076)

The Company is the fund manager of the following funds during the year:

- Mexico Bond Fund ("Fund Series 197)

- Templeton Global Bond Fund Foreign Currency Series ("Fund Series 207)
- Global Balance Plus Fund ("Fund Series 25")

- US Focused Growth Equity Foreign Currency Series (*Fund Series 27")

- Treasury Premium Plus Fund ("Fund Series 287)

- Treasury Premium Plus Il Fund ("Fund Series 21"

- USD Denominated Target Setting at Maturity Fund 1703 ("Fund Series 327} (Terminated
on 30 Mar 2022)

- JPN High Dividend Equity with Short Index Allocation ("Fund Series 33") (Terminated on
17 Mar 2022)

- USD Denominated Target Setting at Maturity Fund 1710 ("Fund Series 347) (Terminated
on 30 Sept 2022)

- JGB Asset Swap Fund ('Fund Series 387)
- Nikkei 225 Intraday Fund ("Fund Series 37")
- Target Setting at Maturity Fund 1802 (*Fund Series 38") (Terminated on 30 Dec 2022)
- China Hong Keng Equity Opportunities Fund ("Fund Series 397)
- Target Setting at Maturity Fund 1808 ("Fund Series 40")
Multi Asset Systematic Strategies Fund ("Fund Series 417)

- Target Setting Al Maturity Fund 1903 ("Fund Series 42°)
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Critrgyoup First ivvastment Management Lumiled
Financia! statements for U year ended 31 Decambar 2022

Material related party transactions (continued)
- Flexibeta Fund (VTS Defensive and VT10 Active) ("Fund Series 43°)

- USD Denominated Citigroup Note, Return Referring the High Watermark of Global Multi
Asset Strategy Fund ("Fund Series 447)

- Global Multi-Thematic Equity Fund {'Fund Series 457)

- US Equity Intraday Momentum Fund (“Fund Series 467)

- Algebris Financial Hybrid Securities Fund ("Fund Series 477}

- Asia Total Return Fixed Income Fund ("Fund Series 487) (Launched on 24 Jan 2022}

- Nikkei 225 Bear Intraday Fund ("Fund Serias 48")

- US Large Cap Equity Intraday Fund ("Fund Series 507)

- US Large Cap Equity Bear Intraday Fund ("Fund Series 52") (Launched on 21 Jan 2022)

- Citigroup Note Targst Setting at Maturity Fund 2203 ("Fund Series 53°) (Launched on 31
Mar 2022)

- Citigroup Note Target Setting at Maturity Fund ("Fund Series 547)

- US T-Note Bear Intraday Fund ("Fund Series 557) (Launched on 17 Aug 2022)

- CGMYL Index Target Volatility Fund 2012 (SP) {{CGMYL")

- Kokusai Turkish Bond Open (1M) Active Currency Hedge ("KAM™)

The Company is entitled to fee income from the following funds under its management
Invesimant management/advisory fee income

For Fund Series 19, 20, 25, 27, 28, 31, 32, 33, 34, 36, 37, 38, 39,40, 41,42, 43, 44, 45, 46
47, 4849, 50, 52, 53, 54, 55, CGMYL and KAM, fees are calculated at 0.01% to 0.57% per
annum of the net asset value of tha funds.

Pursuant to the sub-management agreement signed between the Company and the
sub-managers for Series 19, 39, 45 and 48, the sub-managers’ fee expenses are payable to
the sub-managers calculated al 70%, 55%, 55% and 55% respectively of the gross
management fee income received. The total sub-managers’ fee expenses paid to the sub-
managers for Series 19, 38, 45 and 48 as at 31 December 2022 amounted to $18,703,288
(2021: 523,385,07E).

Management fee expanses

The Company paid managemenl fee expenses to fellow subsidiaries, which provided

ancillary sale support services to the Company. The management fee expense for the year
ended 31 December 2022 amounted to $11,525,187 (2021: $25,849,811).

26

237/302



10
fc)

1

(a)

(b)

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Ciligroup Firsl imvesimen! Managemen! Limited
Financial statameanis for the year ended 37 December 2022

Material related party transactions (continued)

Key management personnel emoluments

Besides the directors’ emoluments disclosed in note 5, there were no other key management
personnel emoluments,

2022 2021
3 S

Amounts disclosed include emoluments
totalling 16,643,732 20,875,531

Amounts disclosed emoluments to cerlain key management personnel were paid by fellow
subsidiaries within Citigroup (“group companies"). The Company did not directly reimburse
the group companies for the service provided.

Financial instruments

Exposure to cradit, liquidity and interest rate risks and foreign currency risk arise in the
normal course of the Company's business. These risks are managed by the Company's
financial management policies and practices described below.

Credit risk

The Company's credit risk is primarily atiributable to cash and cash equivalents held at a
fellow subsidiary bank and outstanding fees receivable arising from the Company's
investment management activities. Management has a credit policy in place and exposure to
credit risks is monitared on an ongaing basis.

Management fee receivables are regularly reviewed and settled on a regular schedule. For
the balance due from fallow subsidiaries, management considers the default risk of the
financial assets placed with the group companies to be remate.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is egual to the carrying amount of these financial
assets as of the end of the reporting period.

Liguidity risk

The Company's liguidity risk management process is integrated into the liquidity and funding
process and liquidity monitoring framework of Citigroup and broker dealers across the
Citigroup network. Citigroup policy requires Citigroup and broker dealers across the
Citigroup network te maintain a strong liguidity position and ensure sufficient cash flows to
meet both expeclted and unexpected current and future cash flow and collateral neads.

Al 31 December 2022 and 2021, all financial liabilities mature within one year or arg
repayable on demand. Details of the earliest contraciual settlement dates of the financial
liabilities are disclosed in notes 8.
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Cigroup First fnvestment Managament Limied
Financial shatements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Financial instruments (continued)
Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value ar future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Company does not hold any fixed
rate deposits which are measured at fair value in the financial statements. The Company was
exposed to interest rale risk enly to the extent that it earms bank interest on cash and cash
equivalents in 2022 and 2021 which is considered to be insignificant.

Currency risk

Currency risk arises from the possibility that changes in foreign exchange rate will impact the
value of financial instruments.

To minimise the exposuras to foreign currency risk, management ensures that the net
exposure is kept at an acceptable lavel by buying or salling fareign currencies at spot rates
where necessary to cover the foreign currencies.

Exposure to currency risk
The following table details the Company's exposure at the end of the reporting pericd to

currency risk arising from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in currencies other
than the functional currency of the Company to which they relate.

2022 — 2021
Austraban Japaness us Australion Jupaimese us
Dolars Yo Dollars Ccifars Yan Dotars
HED HKD HED HELD HKD HHED
eguivalent equivaian] equhcalent e ubalant eguivalent egurvalent
Cash and cash
saubvalants 228 503,002 33,081,601 1419 852,524 8172618
BCCOUG fE0E v e
and other assels . 1821512 2151885 . 2,817 548 3,768,281
Accounis payable
and accued
BACENLEE - [1.171.231) (10,153 ,842] - {1473,267) [25,250,774)
Onpérall nel

exposure 228 1253373 25,119,544 3418 2,086,802 (13,349, 874)

Hong Kong dollar (‘HKD") is pegged to the United States dollar ("USD"), the Company
therefore consider the risk of movements in exchange rates between the USD and the HKD
to be insignificant.
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Citigroup First Invesimen! Menegement Limied
Furawicial stafements for tha year anded 31 December 2022

Financial instruments (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous change on the Company's profit before tax
that would arise if foreign exchange rate to which the Company has significant exposura at
the end of reporting period had changed at thal date, assuming all other risk variables
remained constant.

2022 2021
Incraase/ Increases
(decrease) increase/ (decrease) Increase/
in foreign (decrease) in fareign (decrease)
exchange on profil exchange an profit
rales before tax rates befare tax
1 S % 3
Australian dollars 7.81 18 1.87 64
- - (1.01) (35)
Japanese Yen 9.40 117,817 0.14 2,838
(0.10) (1,253) (0.85) (17.823)

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign exchange rates had been applied
to re-measure those financial instruments held by the Company which expose the Company
to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting period, including intercompany payables
and receivables that are denominated in currencies other than the functional currency. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2021.

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities are considered not to be materially different
from the carrying values in the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022 and
31 December 2021.

Immediate and ultimate holding company

At 31 December 2022, the directors consider the Company's immediate holding company to
be Citigroup Global Markets Hong Keng Holdings Limited, which was incorporated in Hong
Kong. This entity produces financial statements but not available for public use. Its ultimate
holding company at 31 December 2022 is considered to be Citigroup Inc., which was
incorporated in the United States of America. Citigroup Inc. produces consolidated financial
statements under generally accepted accounting principles in the United Siates of America,
which are available for public use.
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Ciligroup First Investment Managament Limiled
Financigl sletements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Dividend

Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to the year,

2022 2021
HKS HKS

Interim dividend declared and paid of US$1 459 85 per
ordinary share (2021: USENIl) 234148496 -

Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2022

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of
new or amended standards, which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December
2022 and which have not been adopled in these financial stalements. These developments
include the following which may be relevant to the Company.

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements and 1 January 2023
HKFRS Practice Statement 2, Making mateniaiity judgements:
Disclosure of accounting policies

Amendmenis to HKAS 8, Accouniing policles, changes in accourting 1 January 2023
estimates and arrors: Definition of accounting estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12, Income Taxes: Deferred fax relaled to 1 January 2023
assels and liabilities arising from a single lransaciion

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial staterments: 1 January 2024
Classification of liahilities as current or nan-current

Amendments lo HKAS 1, Presentaiion of financial statements: 1 January 2024
Non-current liabilities with covenants

Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases: Lease liability in a sale and 1 January 2024
leaseback

The Company is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these
developments is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded
that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the financial statements.
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2023 10 2,595 38 7,978
91.67
CIBC 1965
2023 10 5,069 1,060 1,122 3,582
1814
1962 1990
1970 1980
2023 10 1,502 6,450 174 9,531
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Independent Auditors Report to the Trustee

Opinion

We have audited the financia statements of Citigroup Note - Target Setting at Maturity Fund (the" Series Trust”),
a series trust of Red Arc Global Investments (Cayman) Trust, set out on pages 7 to 39, which comprise the
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2023, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of
changes in net assets attributable to unitholders and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Series
Trust as at 30 June 2023, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA™).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAS") issued by the
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Series Trust in accordance with
the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) together with the ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Matter

The Series Trust may translate these financial statements and our auditors report from English to Japanese. We
have not been engaged to perform any procedures over the trandation. In the event of any inconsistencies
between the English and the Japanese versions of the financial statements and our auditors report, the English
version shall prevail.

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors' Report Thereon

The Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises al the information included in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements and our

auditors' report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materialy inconsistent with the financial statements or our

knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other

information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust for the Financial Satements

The Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these
financial statements in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and for such internal control as the
Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financia statements, the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust are responsible for assessing
the Series Trust's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust either

intend to liquidate the Series Trust or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Satements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as awhole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our opinion.

This report is made solely to you, as abody, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this

report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to

influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional

scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financia statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Series Trust's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Manager's and Trustee's use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Series Trust's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors report to the
related disclosures in the financia statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors report. However,

future events or conditions may cause the Series Trust to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that

achieves fair presentation.
We communicate with the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

KPMG LLP

15 December 2023
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Independent auditor’s report to the member of
Citigroup First Investment Management Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

We have audited the financia statements of Citigroup First Investment Management Limited (“the Company”) set out
on pages 7 to 30, which comprise the statement of financia position as at 31 December 2022, the statement of profit of
loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the year
then ended and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31
December 2022 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA™) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basisfor opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAS’) and with reference to
Practice Note 820 (Revised), The audit of licensed corporations and associated entities of intermediaries, issued by the
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the HKICPA'
s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
abasisfor our opinion.

Information other than the financial statements and auditor’s report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises al the information included in
the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’'s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge

obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give atrue and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financia statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

In addition, the directors are required to ensure that the financial statements are in accordance with the records kept
under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of the Hong Kong
Securities and Futures (Accounts and Audit) Rules.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and to
report to you on the other matters set out in the preceding paragraph, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. In addition, we are required to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are in accordance with the records kept under the Hong Kong Securities
and Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures
(Accounts and Audit) Rules

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Company’s interna control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financia statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficienciesin internal control that we identify during our audit.

Report on matters under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and Hong Kong Securities
and Futures (Accounts and Audit) Rules of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Ordinance

In our opinion, the financial statements are in accordance with the records kept under the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Accounts
and Audit) Rules.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’ s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

20 April 2023
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